Oxytocin, testosterone, and human social cognition

Bernard J. Crespi*

Department of Biological Sciences, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, British Columbia V5A 1S6, Canada

ABSTRACT

I describe an integrative social-evolutionary model for the adaptive significance of the human oxytocinergic system. The model is based on a role for this hormone in the generation and maintenance of social familiarity and affiliation across five homologous, functionally similar, and sequentially co-opted contexts: mothers with offspring, female and male mates, kin groups, individuals with reciprocity partners, and individuals within cooperating and competing social groups defined by culture. In each situation, oxytocin motivates, mediates and rewards the cognitive and behavioural processes that underlie the formation and dynamics of a more or less stable social group, and promotes a relationship between two or more individuals. Such relationships may be positive (eliciting neurological reward, reducing anxiety and thus indicating fitness-enhancing effects), or negative (increasing anxiety and distress, and thus motivating attempts to alleviate a problematic, fitness-reducing social situation). I also present evidence that testosterone exhibits opposite effects from oxytocin on diverse aspects of cognition and behaviour, most generally by favouring self-oriented, asocial and antisocial behaviours. I apply this model for effects of oxytocin and testosterone to understanding human psychological disorders centrally involving social behaviour. Reduced oxytocin and higher testosterone levels have been associated with under-developed social cognition, especially in autism. By contrast, some combination of oxytocin increased above normal levels, and lower testosterone, has been reported in a notable number of studies of schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression, and, in some cases, higher oxytocin involves maladaptively 'hyper-developed' social cognition in these conditions. This pattern of findings suggests that human social cognition and behaviour are structured, in part, by joint and opposing effects of oxytocin and testosterone, and that extremes of such joint effects partially mediate risks and phenotypes of autism and psychotic-affective conditions. These considerations have direct implications for the development of therapies for alleviating disorders of social cognition, and for understanding how such disorders are associated with the evolution of human cognitive-affective architecture.

Key words: oxytocin, testosterone, social cognition, autism, schizophrenia, depression.

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	2
II. The physiology and neurobiology of oxytocin	3
III. The evolutionary biology of oxytocin	3
(1) Origin and evolution of oxytocin	3
(2) Early and co-opted functions of oxytocin	3
(3) Oxytocin, cooperation, and competition	5
IV. The psychology and social neuroendocrinology of oxytocin	5
(1) Models for the adaptive social significance of oxytocin	5
(2) A unified model of oxytocin social functions	7
(3) Oxytocin and mentalizing	7
(4) Positive versus negative valence to oxytocin modulation of social behaviour	7
(5) Oxytocin and socially-mediated aggression	9

* Address for correspondence (Tel: 778 782 3533; E-mail: Crespi@sfu.ca).

V. The opposition of oxytocin and testosterone	. 10
VI. Oxytocin, testosterone, and disorders of social cognition	. 12
(1) Oxytocin and testosterone in autism	. 12
(2) Oxytocin and testosterone in psychotic affective conditions	. 12
(3) Challenges in relating oxytocin and mentalizing to psychiatric conditions	. 13
VII. Conclusions	. 15
VIII. Acknowledgements	. 16
IX. References	. 16

I. INTRODUCTION

Hormones with effects in the brain modulate physiology, emotions, cognition, and behaviour, without the necessity for conscious input or control (e.g. Vitzthum, 2009; Putnam & Roelofs, 2011). As such, hormone systems modify the allocation of attentional, cognitive, behavioural and energetic resources in relation to different externally directed and internal functions, in ways that are expected to be adaptive in the contexts of changing organismal condition as well as environmental contexts. Any given hormone can thus be said to have some set of coherent functions, both physiological and evolutionary (fitness-related), particular ecological and behavioural across situations.

The neuropeptide hormone oxytocin has recently been the subject of intense and increasing interest, especially in the fields of endocrinology, neuroscience, psychology, and psychiatry, since its remarkable effects on social behaviour were first described (Bethlehem et al., 2014; Carter, 2014). A considerable proportion of this work has been focused on discerning what are considered to be the primary cognitive, emotional, social and behavioural functions of this hormone, especially in humans, with an eye to uncovering the roles of oxytocin in psychiatric disorders and human well-being more generally (e.g. Bartz et al., 2011). Most of this research centres on proximate mechanisms and psychologically-based behavioural experiments, while relatively little takes an evolutionary perspective beyond the proposition of specific arenas for its effects, such as maternal care, pair-bonding, or affiliative behaviours, that are presumed to have adaptive significance in particular situations (e.g. Ebitz, Watson & Platt, 2013; Ebitz & Platt, 2014). The study of oxytocin thus provides excellent opportunities for furthering integration of proximate with ultimate evolutionary approaches in endocrinology, with clear implications for human health as well as for understanding the selective pressures that underlie the evolution of complex human sociality.

The purpose of this review is to propose and evaluate a synthetic, integrative model for the adaptive significance of the oxytocinergic system in humans, that synthesizes social-evolutionary with psychological approaches, and helps to reconcile the diverse and sometimes paradoxical research findings that typify the study of this hormone. Understanding of the adaptive functions of oxytocin, in the contexts of other hormonal systems, also represents a prerequisite to discerning the roles of oxytocin in the evolution of human social behaviour, and in psychiatric disorders that centrally involve social cognition. The model is based squarely on previous work, but seeks to extend it through further application of social-evolution theory, and theory for understanding disorders of human social cognition, in this context.

I first briefly describe how the oxytocin system works, physiologically. Next, I explain the evolutionary origins and dynamics of the oxytocinergic system in mammals, because this evolutionary history has important implications for how oxytocin levels, and reactivity, affect the processing and deployment of fitness-salient information across diverse social situations. Third, I provide a brief overview of current hypotheses for the primary functions of oxytocin, from psychological, neurological, and endocrinological perspectives, and explain which empirical findings do, and do not, support these hypotheses. I then present and explicate a model that can help to integrate and extend this previous work by describing a social-evolutionary framework for how oxytocin modulates social behaviour, and how testosterone exhibits a large suite of cognitive and behavioural functions that are opposite to those of oxytocin. The model helps to clarify the general role of oxytocin in mediating the formation, and forms, of fitness-salient social relationships. Next, in the context of this model, I discuss relevant literature on the roles of oxytocin and testosterone in disorders of human social cognition, mainly autism spectrum disorders and psychotic-affective disorders (primarily schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression), based on the hypothesis that autism involves under-developed social cognition, while psychotic-affective conditions involve, in part, dysfunctionally increased aspects of social cognition. I conclude with discussion of applied implications, and suggestions for continued integration of proximate with ultimate approaches in the study of human neuroendocrine systems.

II. THE PHYSIOLOGY AND NEUROBIOLOGY OF OXYTOCIN

Oxytocin is produced primarily in the hypothalamus. It is released into both the brain, where it influences neurotransmission in affiliative, reward-related and other pathways (Knobloch & Grinevich, 2014), and into the peripheral circulation, where it regulates aspects of parturition and lactation (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). In both the brain and the body, oxytocin exerts its influences through binding to oxytocin receptors and stimulation of intracellular signalling cascades.

Behavioural, brain-based effects of oxytocin include modulation of maternal behaviour, infant behaviour, social bonding, sexual and agonistic behaviour, group membership, feeding, stress, and anxiety (De Dreu, 2012; Bethlehem et al., 2014; Carter, 2014). These effects are organized mainly through the brain distributions and densities of oxytocin receptors, which vary both among species that differ in their social behaviour, and within species, across developmental stages and different social and reproductive contexts, and between the sexes (Ophir et al., 2012); variation in such receptors, and their tissue-specific regulation, modulates the highly pleiotropic effects of oxytocin. The oxytocinergic system also exhibits strong functional linkages with the dopaminergic and opioid systems in the brain (whereby it affects reward circuitry), with the closely related neuropeptide hormone arginine vasopressin and with the steroid hormones testosterone and oestrogen (van Anders, Goldey & Kuo, 2011), as discussed in more detail in Section V.

Oxytocin has been considered, most generally, as a hormonal mediator of prosocial behaviour, through its effects in increasing social salience (the degree to which a stimulus is chosen for attention), social motivation, social bonding, and social reward (MacDonald & MacDonald, 2010; Gordon *et al.*, 2011; Bethlehem *et al.*, 2014). However, more precise specification of how it modulates, and responds to, changes in social contexts, behaviour and cognition is required to understand the adaptive significance of its dynamics, and how they become dysregulated in human psychiatric conditions.

III. THE EVOLUTIONARY BIOLOGY OF OXYTOCIN

(1) Origin and evolution of oxytocin

The neuropeptide precursors and homologues of oxytocin and vasopressin evolved over 700 million years ago, but the origin of oxytocin itself traces to the evolution of placental mammals. Some marsupials, such as opossums and bandicoots, thus secrete both oxytocin and its evolutionary precursor mesotocin, while in eutherian mammals only oxytocin is produced (Acher & Chauvet, 1995). This phylogenetic trajectory illustrates a key feature of evolutionary change in phenotypes, including hormonal systems: descent with modification, such that 'new' phenotypes must, despite their novel features, always show step by step functional and structural continuity with phenotypes previously extant.

The evolutionary origin of oxytocin production in mammals thus coincides, broadly, with the origins of placentation, viviparity, lactation, and behavioural maternal care after parturition. In turn, extended mother-offspring social interaction has been viewed as a primary driver of brain expansion and reorganization, especially involving the neocortex, with the origin of placental mammals (Rowe, Macrini & Luo, 2011). The continuity of oxytocin's role in this process stems from its ancestral functions in smooth muscle contraction, which were co-opted to serve in uterine contraction for parturition, and contraction of breast tissue to expel milk for lactation (Gimpl & Fahrenholz, 2001). Viviparity, lactation, and other aspects of maternal care also involve expansion of brain functions, coordinated in part by oxytocin (and other hormones) that jointly orchestrate birth, maternal care, lactation, and offspring behaviour with regard to the mother (Anacker & Beery, 2013). As such, oxytocin production in the context of peripheral reproductive functions evolved, via co-option of function, to also serve as a coordinator of novel neurobehavioural functions intimately tied to newly evolved and elaborated mammalian maternal care. This co-option may have initially evolved simply via release of oxytocin into cerebrospinal fluid and expression of oxytocin receptors on neurons, leading to a role in neurotransmission (Knobloch & Grinevich, 2014); indeed, mesotocinergic neuronal projections to the forebrain are found in some reptiles, and such neurons appear to regulate behaviours related to nesting (Carr, Messinger & Patton, 2008; Knobloch & Grinevich, 2014).

(2) Early and co-opted functions of oxytocin

The neurological and behavioural functions of oxytocin among early mammals would presumably have been restricted to mother–offspring relationships (Fig. 1), centring on (*i*) social recognition of one's own pups, and the subsequent formation of a social bond and basic psychological attachment, which in behavioural-ecological terms represents kin recognition, and (*ii*) pup grooming, huddling, retrieval, and defence, as well as behaviours associated directly with birth and lactation (Ferguson, Young & Insel, 2002). This suite of behaviours is coordinated, in large part, through pup–mother behavioural interactions, which serve as cues and are mediated by effects of oxytocin in the pups, who ingest this hormone in breast milk, as well as synthesizing it in response to maternal contact



Fig. 1. Social-evolutionary contexts for the adaptive significance of oxytocin in its mediation of social cognition and bonding. The original function of oxytocin in maternal care among early mammals has been co-opted and elaborated to serve in female–male bonding, bonding within extended kin groups (such as cooperatively-breeding and communal forms), and bonding among friends (unrelated allies engaging in social reciprocity). Among humans, oxytocin also modulates social aspects of indirect reciprocity (morality), and bonding among ingroup members in the context of conflict with outgroups. In all of these circumstances, oxytocin regulates social attention, recognition, information processing, and relationship dynamics.

and sucking (Gordon *et al.*, 2011). In turn, milk production rates are regulated by the frequency and intensity of sucking, which is mediated by levels of maternal oxytocin. Maternal supply (of food as well as care) can thus be more or less 'automatically' coordinated with offspring demand, at least within some homeostatic bounds. Such mother–offspring dynamics, and their endocrine bases, appear to be highly conserved across all mammals, including humans (Rilling, 2013).

Motivation for maternal care, and offspring solicitation of care, derives from oxytocin in part *via* its links with brain reward systems, especially the midbrain dopaminergic pathway that activates the nucleus accumbens (Dölen et al., 2013; Love, 2014). Natural selection is expected to have favoured such reward systems as quantitative indicators of behaviour that is associated with increases in correlates and components of survival and reproduction. Most generally, such systems are activated when behaviour is expected to lead, or has led historically, to higher inclusive fitness, considered as own reproduction plus effects on reproduction of kin, discounted by the degree of genetic relatedness (Hamilton, 1964; Nesse, 2004; Costa, 2013). Oxytocin indeed also functions as a satiety signal in the context of infant sucking, as well as regulating the ingestion of hedonically-activating foods such as fructose (Ott et al., 2013; Sabatier, Leng & Menzies, 2013). In humans as well as other socially-interacting mammals, feeding thus represents, in part, a social behaviour mediated by oxytocin: for example, levels of plasma oxytocin in dairy calves are significantly higher when they suckle from their mother than when they drink the same milk from a bucket (Lupoli et al., 2001), and in chimpanzees, elevated levels of oxytocin are associated with the sharing of food (Wittig et al., 2014).

A second context for the functions of oxytocin, female-male pair-bonding (Fig. 1), comes from a social context that differs considerably from maternal care, but shares with it a large suite of core features including social recognition, familiarity, formation of a cooperating social group, defence, and reproduction. Whereas female to male bonding appears to be mediated predominantly by oxytocin, male to female bonding more strongly involves the closely related peptide hormone arginine vasopressin (Keverne & Curley, 2004). The mediation of male bonding and care (in part) by a different, but related neuropeptide apparently reflects sexually-selected differences between the sexes, in that male behaviour involves sharp trade-offs between fitness through parental care and fitness through promiscuity. This hypothesis is supported primarily by studies that link genetic variation in the arginine vasopressin receptor gene AVPR1A with both social bonding and correlates of male promiscuity, in humans and voles (Hammock & Young, 2006; Walum et al., 2008).

Among females, the oxytocinergic system has thus, by neurological as well as endocrinological evidence, been co-opted to serve in a social context that is novel (pair bonding) but involves the same set of behavioural features as the mother–offspring relationship. In such circumstances, females must successfully navigate two sets of social relationships: with offspring and with their mate, imposing additional selection for sophistication of oxytocin-mediated social cognition and behaviour. In this regard, the best comparative correlate of neocortical social-brain enlargement in most mammals is the presence of pair-bonding and some degree of monogamy, rather than social group size itself (Dunbar, 2009). By contrast, among primates, sociality appears to be based predominantly on bonded relationships comparable in sophistication to those in non-primate pair-bonded taxa, that have been extended to include many members of one's social group (Dunbar & Shultz, 2007; Dunbar, 2009).

The mammalian radiation led in diverse lineages to even more complex, cooperating social groups, including (i) so-called communal or cooperatively-breeding groups structured primarily by kinship, (ii) small groups, often dyads, of unrelated individuals who serve as reciprocating allies ('friends') to one another, and (iii) larger groups, of kin and non-kin, whose identities are defined by group-specific properties such as a territory and, in humans, aspects of culture and direct as well as indirect reciprocity (i.e. morality) (Alexander, 1987; Clutton-Brock, 2009; Anacker & Beery, 2013; Chapais, 2013) (Fig. 1). Each of these contexts, like maternal care, centrally involves explicit or implicit social recognition, attachment, social cooperation (as well as competition), defence of social resources against non-group members, social reward systems that drive fitness-salient social behaviours, and the creation and navigation of a social group of some kind, of two or more individuals. As such, the oxytocinergic system has apparently been co-opted strongly to modulate all of these social situations, in each case mediating not just the formation and maintenance of a social group, but also the social dynamics within groups that impact upon relationships, and the social-cognitive and emotional processes within each group member (Fig. 1). Most generally, in mammals oxytocin thus orchestrates the formation, maintenance and dynamics of either actual families, or 'psychological kinship' (Bailey & Wood, 1998) systems of direct and indirect reciprocity (Alexander, 1987; Zak & Barraza, 2013), in each case generating 'us and them' dynamics (De Dreu, 2012). These arenas of evolutionary co-option matter because they show how similar humans are to other mammals in fundamental endocrinological ways, and how some key, elaborated human phenotypes, such as systems of indirect reciprocity (morality), extensive ingroup-outgroup relationships in fission-fusion cultural and social contexts, and extensive cooperation to compete (in group versus group play, and in forms of social antagonism including warfare), show both continuity and divergence with regard to other mammals, in their endocrine bases. Among humans, oxytocin is also apparently represented culturally by specific words (e.g. 'hygge' in Danish and 'gemütlichkeit' in German) whose meanings correspond closely to its documented endocrine effects (e.g. Linnet, 2011).

(3) Oxytocin, cooperation, and competition

Across all of the arenas described above, oxytocin, and arginine vasopressin are each involved in mediating both prosocial, cooperative behaviour within a dyad, family or ingroup, and agonistic behaviour directed towards non-group members, because cooperation always generates a valuable social resource for which other individuals are selected to compete (Crespi & Choe, 1997). Under basic social-evolutionary theory, cooperation only evolves in contexts of such behaviour being favoured in competition with other individuals, dyads, or groups. As such, oxytocin and arginine vasopressin are each expected to modulate both cooperative and competitive behaviours, depending on the nature of interaction partners with regard to sex, dyad, family or group membership, and dominance (van Anders et al., 2011; Bartz et al., 2011); such patterns are indeed observed (e.g. Bosch & Neumann, 2012), but have yet to be considered in social-evolutionary contexts. Males and females in particular are expected, under social-evolution theory and considerations from sexual selection, to differ profoundly in the dynamics of their oxytocinergic and arginine-vasopressin-mediated systems, given their divergent social and non-social avenues for maximizing inclusive fitness in socially selected contexts. Such sex differences, including many effects that are opposite between males and females, are commonly observed (e.g. Rilling et al., 2014), although they have yet to be systematically addressed from perspectives based on adaptive significance.

I present this social-evolutionary perspective on the oxytocinergic system to help to understand its roles better in the most complex of all social animals, humans. The primary usefulness of this evolutionary exposition comes from comparing it with current viewpoints on oxytocin functions from psychological, endocrinological, neurological and psychiatric perspectives, to help in reconciling the diverse findings and theories that characterize this area of research.

IV. THE PSYCHOLOGY AND SOCIAL NEUROENDOCRINOLOGY OF OXYTOCIN

(1) Models for the adaptive social significance of oxytocin

Initial views of oxytocin as an exclusively prosocial hormone (e.g. MacDonald & MacDonald, 2010) were soon supplanted by findings that intranasal oxytocin administration can produce 'antisocial' effects in some contexts, such as elicitation of ethnocentrism (De Dreu *et al.*, 2011; Sheng *et al.*, 2013), or increased dishonesty towards outgroup members (Shalvi & De Dreu, 2014). These divergent results have motivated attempts to determine a primary, unitary cognitive-affective role of oxytocin, mainly by integrating information from experimental psychological studies of humans with endocrinological and neurological analyses of rodents, especially mice, rats, and vole species that differ in their social systems (e.g. Kemp & Guastella, 2011; Bethlehem *et al.*, 2014; Ebitz & Platt, 2014).

Three major, non-exclusive psychologically-based hypotheses have been proposed to characterize the

social functions of the oxytocinergic system (Bethlehem et al., 2014). First, oxytocin is considered to increase the salience (attentional importance) of social stimuli, by increasing sensitivity to, and attention towards, socially relevant environmental cues (e.g. Bartz et al., 2011; Striepens et al., 2012; Wittfoth-Schardt et al., 2012). This hypothesis is supported by a broad swath of evidence, such as increased attention to the eye region of faces (Guastella, Mitchell & Dadds, 2008), and increased empathy (Domes et al., 2007; Palgi, Klein & Shamay-Tsoory, 2014) after oxytocin administration, the tendency for oxytocin administration to magnify and intensify existing prosocial tendencies (Bartz et al., 2011; Olff et al., 2013), oxytocin effects in facilitating memory of faces (Savaskan et al., 2008), and associations of single nucleotide polymorphism variation in the oxytocin receptor gene OXTR with measures of social recognition, cooperation and empathy (Skuse et al., 2014). In contrast to such effects, however, oxytocin may also lead to reduced attention to social cues, at least under conditions where high social vigilance may no longer be as productive as other activities (Ebitz & Platt, 2014).

Second, oxytocin is proposed to have a predominant anxiolytic (anxiety-reducing) function, such that it promotes reduced attention and reactivity to social threats, apparently by indicating socially safe or favourable circumstances (Bethlehem et al., 2014). This hypothesis is supported by a large body of literature showing that experimental oxytocin administration is associated with reduced anxiety (e.g. Neumann & Landgraf, 2012), and by the inference that oxytocin may buffer stress responses and thus facilitate social amelioration of adverse and challenging situations (e.g. Heinrichs & Domes, 2008). These results, however, remain subject to the caveat that a large set of literature indicates that higher plasma oxytocin levels can be associated with increased anxiety, at least in some circumstances (e.g. Pierrehumbert et al., 2010; Seltzer et al., 2014). For example, replicated studies have demonstrated higher plasma oxytocin, and higher anxiety, among humans subject to social distress (Table 1), and among rodents in some stressful conditions (e.g. Pierrehumbert et al., 2010). The associations of stress and anxiety with oxytocin, and their joint roles in modulating social behaviour, thus remain unclear.

Third, studies of humans and rodents have demonstrated that, as discussed briefly above, oxytocin mediates social reward sensitivity (Bethlehem *et al.*, 2014), by increasing the reward value of social stimuli. Such increases in reward sensitivity lead to positive fitness-enhancing social interactions, including, for example, preference, mutualism and altruism towards offspring, social mates, allies and one's ingroup as well as one's self in socially competitive contexts (De Dreu, 2012; Ten Velden *et al.*, 2014). This hypothesis is strongly supported by neurological evidence (Groppe Table 1. Evidence that higher plasma oxytocin levels are associated with higher anxiety or higher levels of interpersonal distress

Findings	References
Higher plasma oxytocin associated with higher interpersonal distress, among non-clinical females	Turner <i>et al.</i> (1999)
Higher plasma oxytocin associated with higher anxiety regarding romantic attachments, among	Marazziti <i>et al.</i> (2006)
non-clinical females and males Higher plasma oxytocin associated with higher relationship stress, among non-clinical post-menopausal women	Taylor <i>et al.</i> (2006)
Higher plasma oxytocin associated with higher social anxiety, and higher relationship distress, among individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder	Hoge <i>et al.</i> (2008)
Higher plasma oxytocin associated with higher pair-bond distress, among non-clinical females	Taylor, Saphire-Bernstein & Seeman (2010)
Higher plasma oxytocin reactivity associated with higher relationship distress, higher anxiety, and less forgiveness, among non-clinical females	Tabak <i>et al.</i> (2011)
Oxytocin administration associated with increased anxiety when subject to unpredictable experimental threat, among non-clinical individuals	Grillon <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Oxytocin associated with active social coping in novel, stressful social situations, among non-clinical females	Tops <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Higher plasma oxytocin associated with higher attachment anxiety, among non-clinical females	Weisman et al. (2013)

et al., 2013), but it does not address the potential roles of oxytocin in the converse of social reward, negative social experiences (other than anxiety) that impact within pairs or groups, which should be at least of comparable importance in modulating the fitness-related behaviour of humans and other mammals.

As noted by Bethlehem *et al.* (2014), these three hypotheses, social salience, anxiety reduction, and social reward sensitivity, are not mutually exclusive, and can indeed be integrated into an explanatory framework, whereby oxytocin increases social reward sensitivity, decreases stress and anxiety, and thereby

enhances social cognition. Can the components of this framework be unified, though, in the context of the social-evolutionary perspectives described above?

(2) A unified model of oxytocin social functions

I describe a simple model for the role of oxytocin in motivating and modulating social behaviour, which is based on social-evolution theory, the functional, phylogenetically-based commonalities of social contexts among mammals, and the findings from psychology, endocrinology and neuroscience as described above. The goal of the model is to explain, in principle, the diversity of oxytocin effects, to understand better the variation among neurotypical humans in social cognition and behaviour, and to guide analyses of health-related situations where the oxytocin system appears to have become dysregulated in some manner.

By this model, the main cognitive-affective function of oxytocin is hormonally to indicate and quantify, to relevant regions of the brain, that some socially important event may happen, is happening, or has happened, and that one should focus on it, plan regarding it, and remember it because it is expected to influence one's social relationships and socially-mediated inclusive fitness, positively or negatively (Fig. 2). Increased oxytocin is thus expected to be associated, transiently or in the longer term, with stronger emphasis on social recognition, social relationships, and intensification of social emotion and cognition, including not just affiliative emotion, but also complex social emotions (that may also influence affiliative ties) such as pride, guilt, envy, embarrassment, contempt, shame and remorse - oxytocin's own 'seven deadly sins'. Contexts include offspring, potential and actual mates, friends, social groups at any scale, and introspective social cognition regarding significant others. The valence of oxytocin-increased social cognition and emotion may be positive or negative, depending upon the fitness benefits and costs of affiliation-related behaviour in any particular situation (Bartz et al., 2011). Indeed, with regard to relative fitness in socially interacting pairs, groups and larger populations, not being 'with me' often means, potentially or actually, being 'against me'.

(3) Oxytocin and mentalizing

Under the model depicted in Fig. 2, the mechanism of oxytocin functions centrally involves activation of the neural systems that subserve mentalizing, broadly construed as engaging in social, compared to non-social, cognition, and making sense of each other, and ourselves, in terms of subjective empathic and cognitive states (Fonagy, Gergely & Jurist, 2002; Bateman & Fonagy, 2012). In neurological terms, the model thus involves oxytocin-induced lowering of thresholds for activation of social-brain regions of the cortex, including regions involved in affiliative emotion (Bethlehem et al., 2013; Rocchetti et al., 2014). Such oxytocin-administration effects on activation of human social brain regions (brain areas that subserve the acquisition, processing and use of social information) have been best studied in the context of autism; thus, three recent studies have demonstrated strong oxytocin-induced increases in activation of specific cortical social-brain areas (Gordon et al., 2013; Domes et al., 2014; Watanabe et al., 2014), especially in regions of the medial prefrontal cortex that regulate processes related to theory of mind (Amodio & Frith, 2006). In contrast to this increased activation of brain regions that underpin social cognition, oxytocin administration tends to dampen activation of the amygdala for negative emotions, thus reducing perception and processing of fear, stress and anger (e.g. Gamer, Zurowski & Büchel, 2010). Oxytocin administration also leads to increased functional connectivity between the amygdala and some social-brain regions such as the orbitofrontal cortex (Riem et al., 2012; Sripada et al., 2013), which may serve to foster the controlled mentalization that leads to enhanced, more-deliberative social decision-making; by direct contrast, testosterone reduces functional connectivity between these regions (Volman *et al.*, 2011; Spielberg et al., 2014) and is thereby expected to reduce controlled mentalization, in contexts where aggressive behaviour is favoured over affiliation or cooperation. Such opposite, 'anticorrelated' activation patterns have also been reported for the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (a key social-brain region that regulates social emotionality) in relation to the amygdala (e.g. Stanton et al., 2009), and more broadly for the 'default network' of the brain that subserves many social, mentalistic, and introspective cognitive systems, compared to the 'task-positive' network that is dedicated to mechanistic, non-social cognitive processing (Jack et al., 2012; Kubit & Jack, 2013). By this model, oxytocin thus represents, most simply, a hormone that promotes social cognition and mentalizing, in contexts that are both simple (such as positive affiliation, emotion recognition, affective empathizing, or individual recognition) and more complex (such as theory of mind, complex social emotionality, or ingroup-outgroup balances of cooperation and competition), and may be transient or longer lasting. Dependency of prosocial oxytocin effects on social information is clearly exemplified in a study by Declerck, Boone & Kiyonari (2010), who found that in two cooperative games, oxytocin administration led to increased cooperation when social information was present, but reduced cooperation when it was not.

(4) Positive *versus* negative valence to oxytocin modulation of social behaviour

Social interactions and relationships mediated by oxytocin can, of course, be either positive, negative or uncertain with regard to effects on one's inclusive fitness. They may also be simple and predictable, or



Fig. 2. Model for the roles of oxytocin in normal and dysregulated human social cognition. Oxytocin is secreted in response to some event of social salience, and it lowers thresholds for activation of social-brain regions of the neocortex. Positive, fitness-enhancing social situations involve neural reward and anxiety reduction *via* its effects, though prosocial bonding on the formation, maintenance and enhancement of relationships. Negative social situations elicit oxytocin production in the context of motivation for social coping attempts to alleviate deleterious circumstances, commonly involving stress and anxiety. Autism involves under-developed social cognition, and reduced function of the oxytocin system. By contrast, under this model, psychotic-affective conditions (mainly schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression) can involve, in part, maladaptively hyper-developed social-cognitive phenotypes, and loss of regulatory feedback control of oxytocinergic modulation for social cognition, affect and behaviour.

complex, long-term, and difficult to resolve in any favourable way. With regard to prosocial, positive interactions, which represent forms of mutualism or altruism commonly directed towards actual or 'psychological' kin, oxytocin is expected to both motivate and reward the behaviour, through effects on increased social-brain and reward-system activation that hormonally indicate beneficial effects. In humans, most day to day social interactions are indeed expected to be positive and largely cooperative, taking place within social groups (family, friends, and ingroup members) with whom one shares different types of bonds that support mutualistic and altruistic behaviour. Such circumstances should also involve reductions in stress and anxiety (and thus lower oxytocin in socially safe and stable situations) that would, if present, indicate an unresolved, uncertain, actually or potentially fitness-reducing social situation. Oxytocin should thus, under this model, also be adaptively increased under problematic social circumstances because it focuses attention on social coping mechanisms and attempts to reach conditionally optimal solutions (Tops et al., 2013); such increases may, moreover, be sustained for relatively long periods if the challenging circumstances persist. This hypothesis is concordant with recent findings that oxytocin administration increases anxiety in the context of unpredictable threats (Grillon et al., 2013), and with the associations between oxytocin and relationship distress that are discussed in more detail in Section VI.

Under this framework, anxiety-associated effects of oxytocin should be restricted to situations where an individual is actively striving socially, or is faced with uncertainties that motivate the gathering and processing of social information (Declerck et al., 2010), in both cases with the goal of resolving the problems in a prosocial or socially dominant, manner. In endocrinological terms, the model thus predicts increases or decreases in stress-associated cortisol levels (or stress more generally), depending on the nature and valence of the social stimuli and context. Social reward sensitivity should be increased by oxytocin in positive social situations because it facilitates social behaviour that leads to increased inclusive fitness. By contrast, in social deleterious yet unresolved situations, individuals should exhibit increased sensitivity to social 'punishment' (negative impacts on well-being), with continued expression of oxytocin-mediated social vigilance and mentalizing until a situation becomes more or less resolved. Not just social reward, but also social anxiety and stress, can thus adaptively motivate, with oxytocin providing the social focus to strive optimally for the best possible outcome, at least in neurotypical individuals (Cardoso et al., 2013; Tops et al., 2013).

This perspective makes clear predictions with regard to the anxiolytic (anxiety-reducing), compared to anxiogenic (anxiety-causing), effects of oxytocin, which show notable support from the literature. Most notably, higher plasma oxytocin has been linked with higher

distress or anxiety in some close social relationships, especially among females in the context of pair bonds with males (Table 1), although also in other relationships such as mothers with infants (MacKinnon et al., 2014) and in the context of attachment anxiety (Weisman et al., 2013). The apparent concentration or restriction of such effects to females may be related to sex differences in the importance of close and mutually supportive social relationships, and generally higher impacts of such relationships on female than male fitness (Silk et al., 2010). Although the results linking oxytocin with relationship distress are well replicated, they seldom include experimental administration studies; however, comparable effects have also been reported among female prairie voles Microtus ochrogaster, which show higher levels of plasma oxytocin, and depression-like symptoms, after experimental social isolation (Grippo, Cushing & Carter, 2007). In contrast to such male-female interactions, females also exhibit increased 'tend and befriend' social behaviour with other females, whereby oxytocin promotes affiliative social bonds that serve to reduce anxiety and promote resolution of problematic, fitness-reducing social situations (Taylor et al., 2000; Cardoso et al., 2013).

Under a social-evolutionary model for the modulatory effects of oxytocin in mammalian and human social interactions, oxytocin is thus released in response to some change in the social environment that is salient to effects on inclusive fitness (Fig. 2). If the social-environmental change is perceived as beneficial, some affiliative, prosocial behaviour is increased, and reward pathways are activated, indicating that the behaviour is normally associated with increased fitness. Such affiliative behaviour usually involves some degree of mentalizing (such as individual social recognition, affirmation or enhancement of affiliation, or complex social exchange of resources), such that oxytocin lowers thresholds for activation of relevant social-brain regions. Once the reward is achieved, or ongoing, stress levels are also reduced, the goals of the mentalizing system in this context having been achieved, and plasma oxytocin levels may be expected to decline by negative feedback as the system has served its immediate function in this context. This 'positive' pathway corresponds to the most commonly observed psychological functions of oxytocin, which involve affiliation, prosocial behaviour, and reduced anxiety. As discussed in more detail below, this pathway may also, however, involve oxytocin-mediated hyper-mentalistic cognition (especially among individuals who are already socially sensitive or vigilant), increased liability to addiction (whereby this reward system is exogenously stimulated) (e.g. Buisman-Pijlman et al., 2014) and the increased expression of 'negative' social emotions such as pride or contempt, that reflect positively on the self and involve social affiliation that includes some degree of dominance. In this general context, hyper-mentalistic refers to expression of excessive theory of mind (Dziobek *et al.*, 2006; Crespi & Badcock, 2008; Sharp *et al.*, 2011) that involves making assumptions or inferences about the mental states of others that are 'so far beyond observable data that the average observer will struggle to see how they are justified', and thus involve over-attribution, misinterpretation, and biases (Sharp *et al.*, 2013, p. 4).

Negative social-environmental changes, or situations, also activate the oxytocinergic system, even if only to facilitate social recognition of an individual who has just exerted social dominance over oneself (Ebner et al., 2000; Anacker & Beery, 2013), or to motivate re-establishment of social contact in isolated individuals (Grippo, Cushing & Carter, 2007). Like positive events, deleterious social events are also expected to activate the mentalizing system, but here in the context of increased anxiety and distress that motivate social cognition and behaviour geared towards coping with, alleviating, or avoiding socially-driven negative effects on inclusive fitness. Responses to such events may, of course, be more or less successful, and anxiety and distress (as well as high oxytocin) may be sustained, for some period of time, if the situation cannot be easily resolved. As described below, this pathway may also engender mild or more-severe depression (accounting, potentially, for cases of elevated oxytocin in this condition), as well as some social-emotional correlates of depression such as guilt, shame and embarrassment and high levels of pathological mentalizing more generally. This pathway can also help to explain associations of high plasma oxytocin with relationship distress, especially among females, noted above, although experimental studies are required to separate causes from effects, and evaluate the hypothesis that common causes predispose to high basal oxytocin as well as anxiety, distress and depression. One recent study, however, reported that oxytocin administration clearly increased the perception of social stress (as well as increasing activation in social-brain regions including the precuneus and cingulate cortex), in the absence of increases in serum cortisol (Eckstein et al., 2014), suggesting a direct causal role in this context.

(5) Oxytocin and socially-mediated aggression

A third, less-explored dimension for effects of oxytocin involves increases in social aggression, whereby this neuropeptide reduces thresholds for defence of one's family, social relationships, or larger social group (e.g. De Dreu *et al.*, 2012; Bosch, 2013). In humans, social aggression may involve increased mentalizing to the extent that it involves recognition, evaluation and affective reactivity to social threats, and modulates the expression of physical aggression in dyads or small groups, emotional, socially threatening or socially manipulative cognition and behaviour, and complex ingroup–outgroup social dynamics with competitive elements. Oxytocin administration has thus been implicated in social competition or aggression across several contexts, including defence of one's close relationships (DeWall et al., 2014), ethnocentrism (De Dreu et al., 2011), and ingroup-serving dishonesty (Radke & de Bruijn, 2012; Shalvi & De Dreu, 2014). In humans, aggression towards outgroups is tightly coupled with enhanced ingroup bonding, often in the context of moral superiority of one's ingroup and moral condemnation or 'dehumanization' of others (Lahti & Weinstein, 2005; Jack, Dawson & Norr, 2013). Studies of ethnocentrism, parochial altruism, and moralistic judgments (e.g. De Dreu et al., 2010; De Dreu, 2012; Stallen et al., 2012; Walter et al., 2012), suggest that oxytocin effects mediate such emotions and behaviour, presumably in conjunction with aggression and bonding effects from arginine vasopressin given that oxytocin can bind to, and stimulate, arginine vasopressin receptors to some degree (Tops & Carter, 2013). All of these cases can be interpreted in the general mammalian context of defending valuable social relationships and resources.

The model and considerations described above consider effects of oxytocin largely in isolation from other hormones, which is unrealistic given the integrated regulation of mammalian social behaviour by interacting systems of peptide and steroid hormones (van Anders *et al.*, 2011; Gordon *et al.*, 2011). How, and why, do such hormones modulate or suppress the effects of oxytocin?

V. THE OPPOSITION OF OXYTOCIN AND TESTOSTERONE

As a steroid hormone, produced in the testis and adrenal glands, that regulates the development and expression of primary and secondary sexual characteristics, testosterone differs from oxytocin in notable ways. With regard to cognition and behaviour, testosterone exhibits 'organizational' effects on brain development during the fetal stage, with the ratio of testosterone to oestradiol mediating the degree and pattern by which a chromosomally 'male' brain differs neurologically from a chromosomally 'female' one (Auyeung, Lombardo & Baron-Cohen, 2013). After birth, and especially after puberty, testosterone from the testis and adrenal glands exerts 'activational' effects on cognition and behaviour, mainly through its binding to androgen receptors. Serum testosterone levels are much higher in males than females, in contrast to levels of serum (or cerebrospinal) oxytocin, which are usually, although not always, higher in females (who are not actively reproducing) (Altemus et al., 1999; Carter, 2007; Pierrehumbert et al., 2010; Weisman et al., 2013). Indeed, three studies have noted that oxytocin administration raised male emotional or neural responses to social stimuli to the levels of those found in untreated

Biological Reviews (2015) 000-000 © 2015 Cambridge Philosophical Society

females (Hurlemann *et al.*, 2010; Theodoridou, Rowe & Mohr, 2013; Rilling *et al.*, 2014).

Testosterone is usually considered in the context of competition, aggressive behaviour, dominance, enhanced spatial cognition, and other traits that exhibit apparent male biases in expression. As the functions of oxytocin have begun to emerge, several authors have suggested that it appears to manifest opposite cognitive effects to those of testosterone, although such apparent diametric features were not investigated in any comprehensive way (Auyeung *et al.*, 2009, 2013; Boksem *et al.*, 2013; MacDonald *et al.*, 2013a). I do so here, in the framework of the adaptive significance of each hormonal system in regulating context-specific and sex-biased social cognition and behaviour.

Table 2 shows evidence from the literature regarding opposite effects of oxytocin and testosterone on the same cognitive and behavioural phenotypes, which was compiled using documented oxytocin effects as a guide to search the literature for effects of testosterone on the same phenotype. Opposite effects of oxytocin, compared to prenatal or postnatal testosterone, are evident for a remarkable range of phenotypes, almost none of which were described in the context of such a diametric-effect hypothesis. The one commonality that appears to unite these diverse phenotypic effects of testosterone is that they all involve increased non-social or antisocial cognition and behaviour, and reduced reliance on mentalistic processing of social information. One of the clearest examples of this pattern is the effect of testosterone administration in reducing connectivity of the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) with the amygdala, connectivity that would enhance social-brain input into emotionally driven behaviour. As noted above, oxytocin exhibits the opposite effect, increasing OFC-amygdala connectivity. Comparable diametric effects are seen for actual performance in mentalistic, empathic tasks: for example, oxytocin administration, or high-oxytocin genotypes for single nucleotide polymorphisms in the oxytocin receptor gene, are associated with better performance on reading emotions from the eye region of faces (Domes et al., 2007); by contrast, testosterone administration is associated with reduced performance on the same task, with even stronger effects when an indicator of higher prenatal testosterone is also taken into account (van Honk et al., 2011). Testosterone administration also leads to reduced trust (Bos, Terburg & van Honk, 2010; Boksem et al., 2013), in direct opposition to the effects of oxytocin that enhance it (Kosfeld et al., 2005).

Such opposite effects, and emerging evidence for physiological mechanisms whereby these two hormone systems interact, are of considerable interest because they appear to define a pivotal axis of human neuroendocrine architecture that modulates degrees and forms of sociality. The molecular mechanisms that underlie opposite effects of oxytocin and testosterone are

	Oxytocin effect	Testosterone effect
Phenotype	(administration, or serum)	(administration, or serum)
Trust	Increased (Van IJzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2012)	Decreased (Bos et al., 2012)
Generosity in 'Ultimatum Game'	Increased (Barraza & Zak, 2009)	Decreased (Zak et al., 2009)
Performance on 'Reading Mind in The Eyes' test (Baron-Cohen <i>et al.</i> , 2001)	Increased (Domes et al., 2007)	Decreased in children (fetal testosterone) (Chapman <i>et al.</i> , 2006, review); decreased in women (administration, and index of fetal testosterone) (van Honk <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
Visual spatial abilities	Decreased, in women (Kocoska-Maras <i>et al.</i> , 2013); high-oxytocin genotypes associated with lower mental rotation performance (Thompson, Hurd & Crespi, 2013)	Increased (Aleman <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Newman, Sellers & Josephs, 2005; Stangl, Hirshman & Verbalis, 2011)
Paternal care	Increased (Weisman, Zagoory-Sharon & Feldman, 2012)	Decreased (Gettler <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Rilling, 2013; Weisman, Zagoory-Sharon & Feldman, 2014)
Sensitivity to biological motion	Increased (Kéri & Benedek, 2009; Perry et al., 2010)	Decreased (fetal testosterone) (Chapman <i>et al.</i> , 2006, review)
Attention to angry faces	Decreased (Domes et al., 2013)	Increased (van Honk et al., 1999)
Amygdala activation	Decreased (Baumgartner <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Rupp <i>et al.</i> , 2014)	Increased (Ackermann <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Bos <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Amygdala connectivity with cortex	Increased (Riem <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Sripada <i>et al.</i> , 2013)	Decreased (van Wingen <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Volman <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Spielberg <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
Non-defensive aggression	Decreased (Choleris et al., 2008)	Increased (Carré, McCormick & Hariri, 2011; Montoya <i>et al.</i> , 2012)

Table 2. Cognitive and behavioural phenotypes for which oxytocin and testosterone exhibit opposite effects, based on studies of experimental intranasal administration or measurements of serum levels. These studies represent examples of opposite effects for comparable, or the same, tests, but no studies to date have used the same experimental protocols, and the same population, to test for such patterns

beyond the scope of this review, but appear to involve oestrogen mediation of oxytocinergic function, interactions of testosterone with arginine vasopressin, and the functional architecture of steroid hormone pathways themselves (van Anders et al., 2011; Gabor et al., 2012; McCall & Singer, 2012). From a basic social-evolutionary perspective, opposite effects of oxytocin and testosterone are relatively simple to explain in that prosocial affiliation is fundamentally incompatible with competition for physical dominance, both cognitively and behaviourally (Eisenegger, Haushofer & Fehr, 2011); thus, for example, ability to compete effectively should benefit from active suppression of empathy, prosocial mentalizing, and feelings of social familiarity. The only apparent exception to this rule would be group against group competition as in humans, which is thus expected to involve unique forms of endocrine regulation compared with other animals.

Individuals interact competitively in both social and non-social contexts. In the social cases, oxytocin and arginine vasopressin serve adaptively to modify the complex, dynamic affiliative as well as agonistic (in a social context) behaviours that result. Such situations of socially-motivated aggression, and cooperation-to-compete, might be expected to involve mixtures of oxytocin and arginine vasopressin (due to its role in bonding of males; Hammock & Young, 2006; Walum *et al.*, 2008), with the latter hormone acting in concert with testosterone; however, the endocrine basis of cooperation-to-compete, as in human sports and warfare, has yet to be analysed directly, aside from an apparent role for oxytocin in bonding among team-mates (Pepping & Timmermans, 2012). By contrast, in non-social contexts, under the primary influence of testosterone, only egocentric and antisocial behaviours are relevant to maximizing fitness.

The hypothesis of oxytocin and testosterone as opposite in their effects is certainly a considerable oversimplification, and sex-specific models for how steroid and peptide hormones interact to orchestrate behaviour need to be developed (e.g. van Anders et al., 2011; Rilling et al., 2014), but it can help to explain broad patterns in the literature that have otherwise remained unclear, including the highly developed human social phenotype of cooperating-to-compete (Alexander, 1987; Lahti & Weinstein, 2005). Consideration of oxytocin and testosterone as exerting fundamentally opposite effects on social behaviour can also be useful in understanding hormonal mediation of human psychiatric disorders, given that such disorders frequently involve extremes of phenotypic systems (e.g. Trull, 2012), such as, for hormonal systems, high testosterone combined with low oxytocin, or the reverse.

VI. OXYTOCIN, TESTOSTERONE, AND DISORDERS OF SOCIAL COGNITION

(1) Oxytocin and testosterone in autism

Elucidating the normal, adaptive, psychological and evolutionary functions of oxytocin and testosterone is a prerequisite to understanding how dysregulation of these hormonal systems is associated, in different ways, with disorders of human cognition and affect (mood). The primary psychiatric disorder centrally involving underdeveloped social cognition, autism, has been strongly associated with correlates of high prenatal, and postnatal, testosterone, by diverse lines of evidence, especially through studies by S. Baron-Cohen and colleagues (reviews in Baron-Cohen et al., 2011; Teatero & Netley, 2013). Correlates of high testosterone, and autism spectrum traits and diagnoses, have also been linked with reduced 'empathizing' (as the cognitive and emotional drive to understand, experience and share positive social interactions), and higher 'systemizing' (as the cognitive drive to understand rule-based, non-social and physically-based 'systems'). In this framework, autism has generally been considered to entail reduced cognitive, emotional and behavioural effects from oxytocin, and this hypothesis is supported by a broad suite of observational, experimental, and genetic results (e.g. Gregory et al., 2009; Green & Hollander, 2010; Gordon et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2013; Hovey et al., 2014). Taken together, these associations of testosterone and oxytocin with autism are concordant with models for the adaptive significance of high testosterone and low oxytocin as subserving and promoting nonsocial compared to social cognition; they also help to explain the strong male biases in the prevalence of autism, as involving combinations of high testosterone (prenatal, or both prenatal and postnatal) and low oxytocin, considering oxytocin as female-biased in its influences on affiliative and mentalization-based cognition and affect. Most broadly, both high testosterone and low oxytocin thus foster relatively 'self-oriented', egocentric and nonsocial attention and information processing (Mehta, Wuehrmann & Josephs, 2009; Wright et al., 2012), as indeed exemplified by the term 'autism' itself. Studies that consider effects from both hormones together, which have yet to be conducted, should be especially useful for further progress in linking autism with hormone systems mediating brain development and function.

(2) Oxytocin and testosterone in psychotic-affective conditions

The roles of testosterone and oxytocin in other psychiatric disorders involving dysregulated social cognition, especially the major psychotic-affective disorders schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression that share symptoms and risk factors, have been less well investigated than for autism, both theoretically and empirically; indeed, conceptual, hypothetic-deductive frameworks have yet to be developed in this context, despite the obvious importance of social hormones in human psychological phenotypes. A recently developed model for understanding the psychotic-affective disorders, in comparison to autism, is that they involve forms of dysfunctional, 'hyper-developed' social cognition, as demonstrated, for example, in such phenotypes as paranoia, other social delusions, auditory hallucination, megalomania, high levels of social emotion including guilt, shame, pride, or embarrassment, high empathic drive, and high social motivation as observed in mania (Crespi & Badcock, 2008; Backasch et al., 2013; Dinsdale & Crespi, 2013; Dinsdale et al., 2013; Sharp et al., 2013; Crespi & Leach, 2015). This model is based on the simple presumptions that evolution along the human lineage has predominantly involved increases in social cognition and emotionality (the well-supported 'social brain' hypothesis) (Dunbar & Shultz, 2007), and that all biological phenotypes can be perturbed in two opposite directions, towards either lower or higher expression of some trait, pathway, or system, both of which cause performance deficits although by different means. By this model, then, psychotic-affective disorders can be considered as generally opposite, or diametric, to autism, in symptoms, risk factors and, presumably, their hormonal correlates, as depicted in simplified form in Fig. 3. Do psychotic-affective disorders show opposite patterns to autism, with regard to oxytocin and testosterone levels?

A systematic review of testosterone and oxytocin in relation to psychotic-affective disorders is beyond the scope of this article. However, the diametric model for autism and psychotic-affective conditions, in conjunction with the adaptive roles for oxytocin and



Fig. 3. A highly simplified model for the roles of oxytocin and testosterone in mentalizing, defined here as engaging in social cognition, and making sense of each other, and ourselves, in terms of subjective empathic and cognitive states. The model centres on the documented opposite effects of oxytocin and testosterone on mentalizing functions. It predicts that autism spectrum conditions are characterized by increased effects from testosterone, decreased effects from oxytocin, and thus reduced mentalizing; by contrast, many phenotypes of psychotic-affective conditions (mainly schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression) tend to be characterized by decreased effects from testosterone, increased apparent effects from oxytocin, and dysfunctionally increased mentalizing in various forms. testosterone discussed above, makes clear, specific, falsifiable predictions with regard to testosterone and oxytocin in these conditions, that can be evaluated with empirical information available to date.

First, psychotic-affective conditions should commonly be associated with low testosterone, including prenatal testosterone (usually indexed by digit ratios), low postnatal (plasma) testosterone, and high plasma oxytocin (Fig. 3). Higher digit ratios, as indicators of low prenatal testosterone, have been associated with schizophrenia or schizotypy in some studies (Arató et al., 2004; Walder et al., 2006; Voracek, 2009; Collinson et al., 2010) (although other analyses have shown no such relationships; Procopio, Davies & Marriott, 2006; Gooding, Johnson & Peterman, 2010); these results are in direct contrast to the lower digit ratios reported in autism (review in Teatero & Netley, 2013). Reduced serum testosterone in schizophrenia patients (or individuals with pre-schizophrenia, 'prodromal' symptoms) has been reported consistently across a broad range of studies (Huber et al., 2005; Ko et al., 2007; Fernandez-Egea et al., 2011; van Rijn et al., 2011; Markham, 2012; Ramsey et al., 2013; Trotman et al., 2013), and lower testosterone has also been commonly reported in association with depression (Zarrouf et al., 2009; Höfer, Lanzenberger & Kasper, 2013; Seidman & Weiser, 2013; Amanatkar et al., 2014; Oulis, Masdrakis & Markianos, 2014).

Second, high oxytocin (as well as low testosterone), should be associated with tendencies towards 'hyper-mentalistic' cognition, which as discussed above involves over-interpretation, or imagination, of social cues, stimuli, and conceptualizations (e.g. Walss-Bass et al., 2013); moreover, serum oxytocin should commonly be increased, compared to controls, in psychotic-affective conditions. Table 3 summarizes evidence salient to this prediction of the model, most notably listing a number of studies that show positive associations of plasma oxytocin with severity of schizophrenia symptoms, higher oxytocin among individuals with schizophrenia than in controls, and deleterious effects of oxytocin administration on mentalizing performance among individuals with normal or high social motivation or skill; indeed, positive effects of oxytocin on social cognition and skills appear largely restricted to individuals with reduced social interest or abilities prior to administration (Guastella *et al.*, 2010; Luminet et al., 2011; Rosenfeld, Lieberman & Jarskog, 2011; Fischer-Shofty, Shamay-Tsoory & Levkovitz, 2013; Leknes et al., 2013; Bakermans-Kranenburg & van IJzendoorn, 2013).

Higher oxytocin among individuals with depression than in controls, a pattern replicated across multiple studies, may also be explicable by high levels of (often, although by no means always, dysfunctional) mentalizing among individuals with this condition (e.g. Andrews & Thomson, 2009; Schreiter, Pijnenborg & Aan Het Rot, 2013), whose depressive states frequently involve social problems that are considered (by patients) challenging or more or less intractable (Nesse, 1999, 2004). However, this interpretation is strongly tempered by a suite of studies that show reduced oxytocin among individuals (especially females) with depression (e.g. Scantamburlo et al., 2007; Ozsoy, Esel & Kula, 2009; Yuen et al., 2014) (Table 3). Similarly, as also noted in Table 3, lower oxytocin has been reported among individuals with schizophrenia in some studies (e.g. Goldman et al., 2008; Kéri, Kiss & Kelemen, 2009), and higher oxytocin has also been linked in one study with reduced levels of positive, and total, symptoms in schizophrenia (Rubin et al., 2010). Determining the causes of such variation among studies should clarify the roles of this hormone in psychotic-affective conditions, especially with regard to the uses of oxytocin and testosterone in therapy. The model described here suggests in particular that higher oxytocin, and lower testosterone, should be associated with increased levels of hyper-developed, dysregulated, or affectively biased mentalistic cognition in schizophrenia and depression, as well as other psychotic-affective conditions. For example, a paradigmatic hyper-mentalistic symptom of schizophrenia, paranoia, explicitly involves an exaggerated 'me and them' social relationship, and so might be expected to involve unresolved, oxytocin-associated stress and anxiety given the central role of this hormone in mediating both positive, and negative, social connections, and its apparent role in shifting cognition from self to other orientation (Olff et al., 2013).

(3) Challenges in relating oxytocin and mentalizing to psychiatric conditions

Interpretation of this body of evidence relating psychotic-affective conditions to low testosterone and high oxytocin is subject to several important caveats. One of the most fundamental, in addition to the variation in results found among studies, is that most analyses of plasma oxytocin in psychotic-affective conditions and cognition, and relationship distress, are observational rather than experimental, such that the meaning of elevated oxytocin, in terms of temporal modulation of cognition and behaviour, or organizational, programming effects from early social environments, are uncertain. Moreover, in psychiatric conditions the oxytocinergic system is not necessarily expected to function normally, such that brain sensitivity and responsivity to oxytocin may be reduced or otherwise altered (e.g., MacDonald & Feifel, 2012; Ellenbogen et al., 2013 Rubin et al., 2014). These considerations indeed suggest that psychotic-affective conditions, and cognition, may involve some degree of 'oxytocin resistance' (high serum levels, but dysregulation of hormone responses, by analogy with insulin resistance), by mechanisms that have yet to be elucidated. The concept of oxytocin resistance may also help to explain otherwise-inexplicable

Table 3. Evidence salient to the hypothesis that high levels of plasma oxytocin are associated with psychotic-affective conditions (schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression), and with levels of mentalistic cognition that are higher than typical, and may involve 'hypermentalizing', in non-clinical populations and among individuals with depression or schizophrenia

Phenotype or condition	Findings and references
Schizophrenia	Positive association of serum oxytocin levels with delusional ideation in schizophrenia patients (Walss-Bass <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Schizophrenia	Plasma oxytocin levels positively associated with total schizotypy, and the interpersonal subscale (using the Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire), among healthy females (Tseng <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
Schizophrenia	Significant positive correlation between oxytocin levels and positive symptom severity among schizophrenia patients (Rubin <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
Schizophrenia	Higher oxytocin linked with reduced levels of positive, and total, symptoms in schizophrenia (Rubin <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
Schizophrenia	Some studies show higher plasma oxytocin in schizophrenia compared to controls, some show lower levels (Goldman <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Kéri <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Rosenfeld <i>et al.</i> , 2011; MacDonald & Feifel, 2012)
Bipolar disorder	Plasma oxytocin levels higher among bipolar I patients in manic episodes, and higher among patients in depressive episodes, compared to patients in remission, or controls (Turan <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Depression	Some studies show higher plasma oxytocin in individuals with major depression, than in controls, some show lower levels (Scantamburlo <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ozsoy <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Parker <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Yuen <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
Depression	Higher and more variable plasma oxytocin in individuals with major depression, than in controls (Cyranowski <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
Depression	Higher oxytocin mRNA in hypothalamus of patients with depression, compared to controls, in post-mortem study (Bao, Meynen & Swaab, 2008)
Depression	Higher post-prandial oxytocin associated with higher depression scores among women with anorexia (Lawson <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Depression	Post-natally depressed mothers reported increased sadness under oxytocin administration compared to placebo, although they also reported a more positive relationship with their infant (Mah <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Depression	Oxytocin administration was associated with increases in anxiety during therapy sessions, among males with depression (MacDonald <i>et al.</i> , 2013b)
Depression (non-clinical)	Individuals with high depression scores less able to inhibit processing of sad faces under oxytocin treatment (compared to placebo) (Ellenbogen <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Facial emotion perception	Oxytocin administration associated with higher perceived intensity of expressions, and impaired accuracy, apparently due to oversensitivity and overinterpretation (Cardoso <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Facial emotion perception	Oxytocin administration associated with increased activation of social brain regions, but lower performance among 'highly-sociable' individuals, possibly because such individuals were 'already at optimum' (Groppe <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Facial emotion perception	Oxytocin administration associated with increased activation of 'social brain' regions, but decreased accuracy in emotion recognition (Voorthuis <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
Individual recognition	Oxytocin administration associated with bias towards unfamiliar faces being perceived as familiar (Savaskan <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Rimmele <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
Creativity and imagination	Plasma oxytocin and high-oxytocin genotypes associated with increased novelty-seeking, creativity, fluency, and originality (De Dreu <i>et al.</i> , 2014), as found in positive schizotypy (Acar & Sen. 2013)
Positive schizotypy, imagination	Single-nucleotide polymorphisms associated with high plasma oxytocin are associated with higher scores on positive schizotypy and imagination scales, in a preliminary study of a non-clinical population (Crespi & Summers, 2014)

elevations of stress-induced oxytocin in maltreated girls, compared to boys and control girls (Seltzer *et al.*, 2014).

Second, although the roles of organizational effects of hormones on early brain development, in relation to activational effects on cognition, mood, and behaviour from variation in serum or cortical levels, have been well studied in the context of testosterone, organizational effects have yet to be elucidated for oxytocin. As a result, the roles of this hormone in neurodevelopment, which centrally mediates risks and symptoms of autism and psychotic-affective conditions, remain unclear. Similarly, the roles of variation in activational effects from testosterone, oxytocin, or other hormones in the risk and symptoms of these conditions are largely unknown (aside from the apparent 'antipsychotic' effects of oestrogen; Kulkarni, Hayes & Gavrilidis, 2012); hormonal variation may also represent effects of common causes that underlie both cognitive-affective and endocrine phenotypes. Pleiotropic effects of testosterone, or oxytocin, system genes on reproductive and other physiological phenotypes, in relation to psychiatric phenotypes, also have yet to be elucidated, although higher fertility in first-order relatives of individuals with psychotic-affective conditions indicates that such joint genetic effects may be considerable (e.g. Power *et al.*, 2013).

Third, altered social cognition in psychotic-affective conditions (or under oxytocin or testosterone administration) has almost always been considered in terms of task performance 'deficits', rather than hypo-mentalizing compared to hyper-mentalizing. Some tests (e.g. Dziobek et al., 2006; Sharp et al., 2011) can differentiate between these two possibilities, but have seldom been applied. In this context, the interpretation of withdrawal from social interaction upon illness onset, and reduced mentalizing performance, especially in depression and in schizophrenia with predominantly negative symptoms, remains uncertain. Such social withdrawal appears incompatible with high oxytocin levels, unless these conditions are characterized by increases in internally directed, negatively valenced mentalizing (e.g. Sass & Parnas, 2003; Walss-Bass et al., 2013), with reduced social-interaction rewards due to dysfunctions in the oxytocin-dopamine and serotonin systems (Rosenfeld et al., 2011). By contrast, 'withdrawal' in autism involves never having participated socially (Kanner, 1943), from early childhood.

Considered together, these findings suggest that whereas oxytocin administration should be useful in many cases of autism (especially in early childhood) to engage and amplify this system as shown in some recent studies (Preti et al., 2014), oxytocin-related therapy in psychotic-affective conditions may instead involve benefits from fostering shifts from internal, negatively valenced social cognition to positively valenced, externally directed social behaviour, whereby prosocial interactions may, in principle, be regained and normal feedbacks in the oxytocin system re-established. Moreover, in psychotic-affective conditions oxytocin may indeed, at least in some circumstances, exacerbate symptoms to the degree that it amplifies maladaptive social-cognitive states and fosters hyper-mentalistic cognition more generally. For both autism and psychotic-affective disorders, the social-evolutionary functions of oxytocin discussed above also strongly suggest that use of this hormone as therapy should involve combinations of intranasal administration with fostering of positive social bonds with family, friends, and caregivers, given the core function of this hormone in such affiliative contexts.

VII. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Application of a social-evolutionary perspective to understanding the functions of oxytocin leads to useful insights into how, and why, this hormone mediates human social cognition and affect, with direct implications for psychiatric conditions involving altered social behaviour. Review of the social contexts of endogenous oxytocin release indicates that it promotes the formation and maintenance of affiliative, cooperative relationships in diverse situations, by increasing sensitivity to social rewards and social threats, and reducing thresholds for mentalistic cognitive and affective social-information processing. Social contexts modulated by oxytocin can thus be positive (leading to hedonic reward, and reinforcing behaviour that increases inclusive fitness), negative (motivating anxiety and social coping, to alleviate problematic situations), or aggressive (stimulating defence of one's social relationship against outsiders).

(2) The associations of testosterone with social cognition and behaviour are strikingly opposite to those of oxytocin, in that this hormone promotes egocentric, self-oriented, and competitive behaviour, compared to group-centrism, other-orientation, and cooperation. These diametric effects indicate that studies quantifying effects from both hormones together should be much more effective in explaining and predicting behaviour and cognition than studies focusing on only one of the hormones in isolation. Moreover, consistently high levels of one hormone, and low levels of the other (or comparable differences in reactivity) are expected to represent hormonal 'extremes' with regard to effects on social cognition, and may thus be associated with psychiatric disorders that centrally involve social traits.

(3) Autism appears to be characterized by high testosterone and low oxytocin, in keeping with the major features of this condition: reduced social cognition, and increased non-social cognition (low empathizing and high systemizing, by Baron-Cohen's model). Moreover, a notable, although inconsistent, suite of evidence links psychotic-affective conditions with low testosterone, high oxytocin, and dysregulated social cognition that often involves 'hyper-mentalizing', although hormonal correlates of social cognition in these disorders have yet to be investigated in theory-guided or comprehensive ways. The conceptual frameworks for understanding oxytocin and testosterone functions described here, which link adaptive significance in neurotypical individuals to dysregulation in individuals with mental conditions, provide a predictive, hypothesis-testing framework for analysing the neuroendocrine bases of human social cognition and its disorders.

VIII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to S. Read for technical assistance, to M. del Guidice, S. Stearns, M. Tops and M. Van IJzendoorn for helpful discussion, to W. Foster and two anonymous reviewers for helpful comments, and to NSERC for support.

IX. REFERENCES

- ACAR, S. & SEN, S. (2013). A multilevel meta-analysis of the relationship between creativity and schizotypy. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts* 7, 214–228.
- ACHER, R. & CHAUVET, J. (1995). The neurohypophysial endocrine regulatory cascade: precursors, mediators, receptors, and effectors. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* 16, 237–289.
- ACKERMANN, S., SPALEK, K., RASCH, B., GSCHWIND, L., COYNEL, D., FASTENRATH, M., PAPASSOTIROPOULOS, A. & DE QUERVAIN, D. J. F. (2012). Testosterone levels in healthy men are related to amygdala reactivity and memory performance. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 37, 1417–1424.
- ALEMAN, A., BRONK, E., KESSELS, R. P., KOPPESCHAAR, H. P. & VAN HONK, J. (2004). A single administration of testosterone improves visuospatial ability in young women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 29, 612–617.
- ALEXANDER, R. D. (1987). The Biology of Moral Systems. Aldine de Gruyter, New York.
- ALTEMUS, M., JACOBSON, K. R., DEBELLIS, M., KLING, M., PIGOTT, T., MURPHY, D. L. & GOLD, P. W. (1999). Normal CSF oxytocin and NPY levels in OCD. *Biological Psychiatry* 45, 931–933.
- AMANATKAR, H. R., CHIBNALL, J. T., SEO, B. W., MANEPALLI, J. N. & GROSSBERG, G. T. (2014). Impact of exogenous testosterone on mood: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized placebo-controlled trials. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry* 26, 19–32.
- AMODIO, D. M. & FRITH, C. D. (2006). Meeting of minds: the medial frontal cortex and social cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 7, 268–277.
- ANACKER, A. M. J. & BEERY, A. K. (2013). Life in groups: the roles of oxytocin in mammalian sociality. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 7, 185.
- VAN ANDERS, S. M., GOLDEY, K. L. & KUO, P. X. (2011). The steroid/peptide theory of social bonds: integrating testosterone and peptide responses for classifying social behavioral contexts. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 36, 1265–1275.
- ANDREWS, P. W. & THOMSON, J. A. Jr. (2009). The bright side of being blue: depression as an adaptation for analyzing complex problems. *Psychological Review* 116, 620–654.
- ARATÓ, M., FRECSKA, E., BECK, C., AN, M. & KISS, H. (2004). Digit length pattern in schizophrenia suggests disturbed prenatal hemispheric lateralization. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry* 28, 191–194.
- AUYEUNG, B., BARON-COHEN, S., ASHWIN, E., KNICKMEYER, R., TAYLOR, K. & HACKETT, G. (2009). Fetal testosterone and autistic traits. *British Journal of Psychology* **100**, 1–22.
- AUYEUNG, B., LOMBARDO, M. V. & BARON-COHEN, S. (2013). Prenatal and postnatal hormone effects on the human brain and cognition. *Pflügers Archiv* 465, 557–571.
- BACKASCH, B., STRAUBE, B., PYKA, M., KLÖHN-SAGHATOLISLAM, F., MÜLLER, M. J., KIRCHER, T. T. & LEUBE, D. T. (2013). Hyperintentionality during automatic perception of naturalistic cooperative behavior in patients with schizophrenia. *Social Neuroscience* 8, 489–504.
- BAILEY, K. G. & WOOD, H. E. (1998). Evolutionary kinship therapy: basic principles and treatment implications. *The British Journal of Medical Psychology* 71, 509-523.
- BAKERMANS-KRANENBURG, M. J. & VAN IJZENDOORN, M. H. (2013). Sniffing around oxytocin: review and meta-analyses of trials in healthy and clinical groups with implications for pharmacotherapy. *Translational Psychiatry* 3, e258.
- BAO, A. M., MEYNEN, G. & SWAAB, D. F. (2008). The stress system in depression and neurodegeneration: focus on the human hypothalamus. *Brain Research Reviews* 57, 531–553.
- BARON-COHEN, S., LOMBARDO, M. V., AUYEUNG, B., ASHWIN, E., CHAKRABARTI, B. & KNICKMEYER, R. (2011). Why are autism spectrum conditions more prevalent in males? *PLoS Biology* 9, e1001081.
- BARON-COHEN, S., WHEELWRIGHT, S., SKINNER, R., MARTIN, J. & CLUBLEY, E. (2001). The autism-spectrum quotient (AQ): evidence from Asperger syndrome/high-functioning autism, males and females, scientists and mathematicians. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders* 31, 5–17.

- BARRAZA, J. & ZAK, P. J. (2009). Empathy toward strangers triggers oxytocin release and subsequent generosity. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1167, 182–189.
- BARTZ, J. A., ZAKI, J., BOLGER, N. & OCHSNER, K. N. (2011). Social effects of oxytocin in humans: context and person matter. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 15, 301–309.
- BATEMAN, A. W. & FONAGY, P. (2012). Handbook of Mentalizing in Mental Health Practice. American Psychiatric Publishing, Arlington.
- BAUMGARTNER, T., HEINRICHS, M., VONLANTHEN, A., FISCHBACHER, U. & FEHR, E. (2008). Oxytocin shapes the neural circuitry of trust and trust adaptation in humans. *Neuron* 58, 639–650.
- BETHLEHEM, R. A., BARON-COHEN, S., VAN HONK, J., AUYEUNG, B. & BOS, P. A. (2014). The oxytocin paradox. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 8, 48.
- BETHLEHEM, R. A., VAN HONK, J., AUYEUNG, B. & BARON-COHEN, S. (2013). Oxytocin, brain physiology, and functional connectivity: a review of intranasal oxytocin fMRI studies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 962–974.
- BOKSEM, M. A., MEHTA, P. H., VAN DEN BERGH, B., VAN SON, V., TRAUTMANN, S. T., ROELOFS, K., SMIDTS, A. & SANFEY, A. G. (2013). Testosterone inhibits trust but promotes reciprocity. *Psychological Science* 24, 2306–2314.
- BOS, P. A., VAN HONK, J., RAMSEY, N. F., STEIN, D. J. & HERMANS, E. J. (2013). Testosterone administration in women increases amygdala responses to fearful and happy faces. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 808–817.
- BOS, P. A., PANKSEPP, J., BLUTHÉ, R. M. & HONK, J. V. (2012). Acute effects of steroid hormones and neuropeptides on human social-emotional behavior: a review of single administration studies. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* 33, 17–35.
- BOS, P. A., TERBURG, D. & VAN HONK, J. (2010). Testosterone decreases trust in socially naive humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107, 9991–9995.
- BOSCH, O. J. (2013). Maternal aggression in rodents: brain oxytocin and vasopressin mediate pup defence. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 368, 20130085.
- BOSCH, O. J. & NEUMANN, I. D. (2012). Both oxytocin and vasopressin are mediators of maternal care and aggression in rodents: from central release to sites of action. *Hormones and Behavior* 61, 293–303.
- BUISMAN-PIJLMAN, F. T., SUMRACKI, N. M., GORDON, J. J., HULL, P. R., CARTER, C. S. & TOPS, M. (2014). Individual differences underlying susceptibility to addiction: role for the endogenous oxytocin system. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry,* and Behavior 119, 22–38.
- CARDOSO, C., ELLENBOGEN, M. A., SERRAVALLE, L. & LINNEN, A. M. (2013). Stress-induced negative mood moderates the relation between oxytocin administration and trust: evidence for the tend-and-befriend response to stress? *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 2800–2804.
- CARR, J. L., MESSINGER, M. A. & PATTON, G. M. (2008). Nesting behavior in three-toed box turtles (*Terrapene carolina triunguis*) following oxytocin-induced oviposition. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology* 7, 124–128.
- CARRÉ, J. M., MCCORMICK, C. M. & HARIRI, A. R. (2011). The social neuroendocrinology of human aggression. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 36, 935–944.
- CARTER, C. S. (2007). Sex differences in oxytocin and vasopressin: implications for autism spectrum disorders? *Behavioural Brain Research* 176, 170–186.
- CARTER, C. S. (2014). Oxytocin pathways and the evolution of human behavior. Annual Review of Psychology 65, 17–39.
- CHAPAIS, B. (2013). Monogamy, strongly bonded groups, and the evolution of human social structure. *Evolutionary Anthropology* 22, 52–65.
- CHAPMAN, E., BARON-COHEN, S., AUYEUNG, B., KNICKMEYER, R., TAYLOR, K. & HACKETT, G. (2006). Fetal testosterone and empathy: evidence from the empathy quotient (EQ) and the "reading the mind in the eyes" test. Social Neuroscience 1, 135–148.
- CHOLERIS, E., DEVIDZE, N., KAVALIERS, M. & PFAFF, D. W. (2008). Steroidal/neuropeptide interactions in hypothalamus and amygdala related to social anxiety. *Progress in Brain Research* **170**, 291–303.
- CLUTTON-BROCK, T. (2009). Structure and function in mammalian societies. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 364, 3229–3242.
- COLLINSON, S. L., LIM, M., CHAW, J. H., VERMA, S., SIM, K., RAPISARDA, A. & CHONG, S. A. (2010). Increased ratio of 2nd to 4th digit (2D: 4D) in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Research* 176, 8–12.
- COSTA, J. T. (2013). Hamiltonian inclusive fitness: a fitter fitness concept. *Biology Letters* 9, 20130335.
- CRESPI, B. & BADCOCK, C. (2008). Psychosis and autism as diametrical disorders of the social brain. *The Behavioral and Brain Sciences* **31**, 241–261.
- CRESPI, B. J. & CHOE, J. C. (1997). Evolution and explanation of social systems. In *The Evolution of Social Behavior in Insects and Arachnids* (eds J. CHOE and B. CRESPI), pp. 499–524. Cambridge University Press, London.
- CRESPI, B. & LEACH, E. (2015). The evolutionary biology of human neurodevelopment: evo-neuro-devo comes of age. In *Evolutionary Developmental Anthropol*ogy (eds J. BOUGHNER and C. ROLIAN), Wiley, New York, in press.

CRESPI, B. & SUMMERS, K. (2014). Inclusive fitness theory for the evolution of religion. Animal Behaviour 92, 313–323.

- CYRANOWSKI, J. M., HOFKENS, T. L., FRANK, E., SELTMAN, H., CAI, H. M. & AMICO, J. A. (2008). Evidence of dysregulated peripheral oxytocin release among depressed women. *Psychosomatic Medicine* **70**, 967–975.
- DECLERCK, C. H., BOONE, C. & KIYONARI, T. (2010). Oxytocin and cooperation under conditions of uncertainty: the modulating role of incentives and social information. *Hormones and Behavior* 57, 368–374.
- DE DREU, C. K. (2012). Oxytocin modulates cooperation within and competition between groups: an integrative review and research agenda. *Hormones and Behavior* **61**, 419–428.
- DE DREU, C. K., BAAS, M., ROSKES, M., SLIGTE, D. J., EBSTEIN, R. P., CHEW, S. H., TONG, T., JIANG, Y., MAYSELESS, N. & SHAMAY-TSOORY, S. G. (2014). Oxytonergic circuitry sustains and enables creative cognition in humans. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience 9, 1159–1164.
- DE DREU, C. K., GREER, L. L., HANDGRAAF, M. J., SHALVI, S., VAN KLEEF, G. A., BAAS, M., TEN VELDEN, F. S., VAN DIJK, E. & FEITH, S. W. (2010). The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science* 328, 1408–1411.
- DE DREU, C. K., GREER, L. L., VAN KLEEF, G. A., SHALVI, S. & HANDGRAAF, M. J. (2011). Oxytocin promotes human ethnocentrism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 1262–1266.
- DE DREU, C. K., SHALVI, S., GREER, L. L., VAN KLEEF, G. A. & HANDGRAAF, M. J. (2012). Oxytocin motivates non-cooperation in intergroup conflict to protect vulnerable in-group members. *PLoS One* 7, e46751.
- DEWALL, C. N., GILLATH, O., PRESSMAN, S. D., BLACK, L. L., BARTZ, J. A., MOSKOVITZ, J. & STETLER, D. A. (2014). When the love hormone leads to violence: oxytocin increases intimate partner violence inclinations among high trait aggressive people. *Social Psychological and Personality Science* (Epub ahead of print).
- DINSDALE, N. & CRESPI, B. J. (2013). The borderline empathy paradox: evidence and conceptual models for empathic enhancements in borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Personality Disorders* 27, 172–195.
- DINSDALE, N. L., HURD, P. L., WAKABAYASHI, A., ELLIOT, M. & CRESPI, B. J. (2013). How are autism and schizotypy related? Evidence from a non-clinical population. *PLoS One* 8, e63316.
- DÖLEN, G., DARVISHZADEH, A., HUANG, K. W. & MALENKA, R. C. (2013). Social reward requires coordinated activity of nucleus accumbens oxytocin and serotonin. *Nature* 501, 179–184.
- Domes, G., HEINRICHS, M., MICHEL, A., BERGER, C. & HERPERTZ, S. C. (2007). Oxytocin improves "mind-reading" in humans. *Biological Psychiatry* **61**, 731–733.
- DOMES, G., KUMBIER, E., HEINRICHS, M. & HERPERTZ, S. C. (2014). Oxytocin promotes facial emotion recognition and amygdala reactivity in adults with Asperger syndrome. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39, 698–706.
- DOMES, G., STEINER, A., PORGES, S. W. & HEINRICHS, M. (2013). Oxytocin differentially modulates eye gaze to naturalistic social signals of happiness and anger. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **38**, 1198–1202.
- DUNBAR, R. I. M. (2009). The social brain hypothesis and its implications for social evolution. Annals of Human Biology 36, 562–572.
- DUNBAR, R. I. & SHULTZ, S. (2007). Evolution in the social brain. Science 317, 1344-1347.
- DZIOBEK, I., FLECK, S., KALBE, E., ROGERS, K., HASSENSTAB, J., BRAND, M., KESSLER, J., WOIKE, J. K., WOLF, O. T. & CONVIT, A. (2006). Introducing MASC: a movie for the assessment of social cognition. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders* 36, 623–636.
- EBITZ, R. B. & PLATT, M. L. (2014). An evolutionary perspective on the behavioral consequences of exogenous oxytocin application. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 7, 225.
- EBITZ, R. B., WATSON, K. K. & PLATT, M. L. (2013). Oxytocin blunts social vigilance in the rhesus macaque. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110, 11630–11635.
- EBNER, K., WOTJAK, C. T., LANDGRAF, R. & ENGELMANN, M. (2000). A single social defeat experience selectively stimulates the release of oxytocin, but not vasopressin, within the septal brain area of male rats. *Brain Research* 872, 87–92.
- ECKSTEIN, M., SCHEELE, D., WEBER, K., STOFFEL-WAGNER, B., MAIER, W. & HURLEMANN, R. (2014). Oxytocin facilitates the sensation of social stress. *Human Brain Mapping* 35, 4741–4750.
- EISENEGGER, C., HAUSHOFER, J. & FEHR, E. (2011). The role of testosterone in social interaction. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 15, 263–271.
- ELLENBOGEN, M. A., LINNEN, A. M., CARDOSO, C. & JOOBER, R. (2013). Intranasal oxytocin impedes the ability to ignore task-irrelevant facial expressions of sadness in students with depressive symptoms. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 387–398.
- FERGUSON, J. N., YOUNG, L. J. & INSEL, T. R. (2002). The neuroendocrine basis of social recognition. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* 23, 200–224.

- FERNANDEZ-EGEA, E., GARCÍA-RIZO, C., MILLER, B., PARELLADA, E., JUSTICIA, A., BERNARDO, M. & KIRKPATRICK, B. (2011). Testosterone in newly diagnosed, antipsychotic-naive men with nonaffective psychosis: a test of the accelerated aging hypothesis. *Psychosomatic Medicine* **73**, 643–647.
- FISCHER-SHOFTY, M., SHAMAY-TSOORY, S. G. & LEVKOVITZ, Y. (2013). Characterization of the effects of oxytocin on fear recognition in patients with schizophrenia and in healthy controls. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 7, 127.
- FONAGY, P., GERGELY, G. & JURIST, E. L. (cds) (2002). Affect Regulation, Mentalization and the Development of the Self. Other Press, New York.
- GABOR, C. S., PHAN, A., CLIPPERTON-ALLEN, A. E., KAVALIERS, M. & CHOLERIS, E. (2012). Interplay of oxytocin, vasopressin, and sex hormones in the regulation of social recognition. *Behavioral Neuroscience* **126**, 97–109.
- GAMER, M., ZUROWSKI, B. & BÜCHEL, C. (2010). Different amygdala subregions mediate valence-related and attentional effects of oxytocin in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107, 9400–9405.
- GETTLER, L. T., MCDADE, T. W., FERANIL, A. B. & KUZAWA, C. W. (2011). Longitudinal evidence that fatherhood decreases testosterone in human males. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 16194–16199.
- GIMPL, G. & FAHRENHOLZ, F. (2001). The oxytocin receptor system: structure, function, and regulation. *Physiological Reviews* 81, 629–683.
- GOLDMAN, M., MARLOW-O'CONNOR, M., TORRES, I. & CARTER, C. S. (2008). Diminished plasma oxytocin in schizophrenic patients with neuroendocrine dysfunction and emotional deficits. *Schizophrenia Research* 98, 247–255.
- GOODING, D. C., JOHNSON, M. & PETERMAN, J. S. (2010). Schizotypy and altered digit ratios: a second look. *Psychiatry Research* 178, 73–78.
- GORDON, I., MARTIN, C., FELDMAN, R. & LECKMAN, J. F. (2011). Oxytocin and social motivation. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience* 1, 471–493.
- GORDON, I., VANDER WYK, B. C., BENNETT, R. H., CORDEAUX, C., LUCAS, M. V., ELLBOTT, J. A., ZAGOORY-SHARON, O., LECKMAN, J. F., FELDMAN, R. & PELPHREY, K. A. (2013). Oxytocin enhances brain function in children with autism. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110, 20953–20958.
- GREEN, J. J. & HOLLANDER, E. (2010). Autism and oxytocin: new developments in translational approaches to therapeutics. *Neurotherapeutics* 7, 250–257.
- GREGORY, S. G., CONNELLY, J. J., TOWERS, A. J., JOHNSON, J., BISCOCHO, D., MARKUNAS, C. A., LINTAS, C., ABRAMSON, R. K., WRIGHT, H. H., ELLIS, P., LANGFORD, C. F., WORLEY, G., DELONG, G. R., MURPHY, S. K., CUCCARO, M. L., PERSICO, A. & PERICAK-VANCE, M. A. (2009). Genomic and epigenetic evidence for oxytocin receptor deficiency in autism. *BMC Medicine* 7, 62.
- GRILLON, C., KRIMSKY, M., CHARNEY, D. R., VYTAL, K., ERNST, M. & CORNWELL, B. (2013). Oxytocin increases anxiety to unpredictable threat. *Molecular Psychiatry* 18, 958–960.
- GRIPPO, A. J., CUSHING, B. S. & CARTER, C. S. (2007). Depression-like behavior and stressor-induced neuroendocrine activation in female prairie voles exposed to chronic social isolation. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 69, 149–157.
- GROPPE, S. E., GOSSEN, A., RADEMACHER, L., HAHN, A., WESTPHAL, L., GRÜNDER, G. & SPRECKELMEYER, K. N. (2013). Oxytocin influences processing of socially relevant cues in the ventral tegmental area of the human brain. *Biological Psychiatry* 74, 172–179.
- GUASTELLA, A. J., EINFEL, S. L., GRAY, K. M., RINEHART, N. J., TONGE, B. J., LAMBERT, T. J. & HICKIE, I. B. (2010). Intranasal oxytocin improves emotion recognition for youth with autism spectrum disorders. *Biological Psychiatry* 67, 692–694.
- GUASTELLA, A. J., MITCHELL, P. B. & DADDS, M. R. (2008). Oxytocin increases gaze to the eye region of human faces. *Biological Psychiatry* 63, 3–5.
- HAMILTON, W. D. (1964). The genetical evolution of social behaviour, I and II. Journal of Theoretical Biology 7, 1–52.
- HAMMOCK, E. A. & YOUNG, L. J. (2006). Oxytocin, vasopressin and pair bonding: implications for autism. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B: Biological Sciences* 361, 2187–2198.
- HEINRICHS, M. & DOMES, G. (2008). Neuropeptides and social behaviour: effects of oxytocin and vasopressin in humans. *Progress in Brain Research* **170**, 337–350.
- HÖFER, P., LANZENBERGER, R. & KASPER, S. (2013). Testosterone in the brain: neuroimaging findings and the potential role for neuropsychopharmacology. *European Neuropsychopharmacology* 23, 79–88.
- HOGE, E. A., POLLACK, M. H., KAUFMAN, R. E., ZAK, P. J. & SIMON, N. M. (2008). Oxytocin levels in social anxiety disorder. CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics 14, 165–170.
- VAN HONK, J., SCHUTTER, D. J., BOS, P. A., KRUIJT, A. W., LENTJES, E. G. & BARON-COHEN, S. (2011). Testosterone administration impairs cognitive empathy in women depending on second-to-fourth digit ratio. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 3448–3452.
- VAN HONK, J., TUITEN, A., VERBATEN, R., VAN DEN HOUT, M., KOPPESCHAAR, H., THJSSEN, J. & DE HAAN, E. (1999). Correlations among salivary testosterone, mood, and selective attention to threat in humans. *Hormones and Behavior* 36, 17–24.

Biological Reviews (2015) 000-000 © 2015 Cambridge Philosophical Society

- Hovey, D., Zettergren, A., Jonsson, L., Melke, J., Anckarsäter, H., Lichtenstein, P. & Westberg, L. (2014). Associations between oxytocin-related genes and autistic-like traits. *Social Neuroscience* **9**, 378–386.
- HUBER, T. J., TETTENBORN, C., LEIFKE, E. & EMRICH, H. M. (2005). Sex hormones in psychotic men. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 30, 111–114.
- HURLEMANN, R., PATIN, A., ONUR, O. A., COHEN, M. X., BAUMGARTNER, T., METZLER, S., DZIOBEK, I., GALLINAT, J., WAGNER, M., MAIER, W. & KENDRICK, K. M. (2010). Oxytocin enhances amygdala-dependent, socially reinforced learning and emotional empathy in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 30, 4999–5007.
- JACK, A. I., DAWSON, A. J., BEGANY, K. L., LECKIE, R. L., BARRY, K. P., CICCIA, A. H. & SNYDER, A. Z. (2012). fMRI reveals reciprocal inhibition between social and physical cognitive domains. *NeuroImage* **66C**, 385–401.
- JACK, A. I., DAWSON, A. J. & NORR, M. E. (2013). Seeing human: distinct and overlapping neural signatures associated with two forms of dehumanization. *NeuroImage* 79, 313–328.
- KANNER, L. (1943). Autistic disturbances of affective contact. The Nervous Child 2, 217–250.
- KEMP, A. H. & GUASTELLA, A. J. (2011). The role of oxytocin in human affect: a novel hypothesis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 20, 222–231.
- KÉRI, S. & BENEDEK, G. (2009). Oxytocin enhances the perception of biological motion in humans. Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience 9, 237–241.
- KÉRI, S., KISS, I. & KELEMEN, O. (2009). Sharing secrets: oxytocin and trust in schizophrenia. Social Neuroscience 4, 287–293.
- KEVERNE, E. B. & CURLEY, J. P. (2004). Vasopressin, oxytocin and social behaviour. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 14, 777–783.
- KNOBLOCH, H. S. & GRINEVICH, V. (2014). Evolution of oxytocin pathways in the brain of vertebrates. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 8, 31.
- Ko, Y. H., JUNG, S. W., JOE, S. H., LEE, C. H., JUNG, H. G., JUNG, I. K., KIM, S. H. & LEE, M. S. (2007). Association between serum testosterone levels and the severity of negative symptoms in male patients with chronic schizophrenia. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 32, 385–391.
- KOCOSKA-MARAS, L., RÅDESTAD, A. F., CARLSTRÖM, K., BÄCKSTRÖM, T., VON SCHOULTZ, B. & HIRSCHBERG, A. L. (2013). Cognitive function in association with sex hormones in postmenopausal women. *Gynecological Endocrinology* 29, 59–62.
- KOSFELD, M., HEINRICHS, M., ZAK, P. J., FISCHBACHER, U. & FEHR, E. (2005). Oxytocin increases trust in humans. *Nature* 435, 673–676.
- KUBIT, B. & JACK, A. I. (2013). Rethinking the role of the rTPJ in attention and social cognition in light of the opposing domains hypothesis: findings from an ALE-based meta-analysis and resting-state functional connectivity. *Frontiers* in Human Neuroscience 7, 323.
- KULKARNI, J., HAYES, E. & GAVRILIDIS, E. (2012). Hormones and schizophrenia. Current Opinion in Psychiatry 25, 89–95.
- LAHTI, D. C. & WEINSTEIN, B. S. (2005). The better angels of our nature: group stability and the evolution of moral tension. *Evolution and Human Behavior* **26**, 47–63.
- LAWSON, E. A., HOLSEN, L. M., SANTIN, M., DESANTI, R., MEENAGHAN, E., EDDY, K. T., HERZOG, D. B., GOLDSTEIN, J. M. & KLIBANSKI, A. (2013). Postprandial oxytocin secretion is associated with severity of anxiety and depressive symptoms in anorexia nervosa. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 74, e451–e457.
- LEKNES, S., WESSBERG, J., ELLINGSEN, D. M., CHELNOKOVA, O., OLAUSSON, H. & LAENG, B. (2013). Oxytocin enhances pupil dilation and sensitivity to 'hidden' emotional expressions. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* 8, 741–749.
- LINNET, J. T. (2011). Money can't buy me hygge: Danish middle-class consumption, egalitarianism and the sanctity of inner space. *Social Analysis* 55, 21–44.
- LOVE, T. M. (2014). Oxytocin, motivation and the role of dopamine. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior* 119, 49–60.
- LUMINET, O., GRYNBERG, D., RUZETTE, N. & MIKOLAJCZAK, M. (2011). Personality-dependent effects of oxytocin: greater social benefits for high alexithymia scorers. *Biological Psychology* 87, 401–406.
- LUPOLI, B., JOHANSSON, B., UVNÄS-MOBERG, K. & SVENNERSTEN-SJAUNJA, K. (2001). Effect of suckling on the release of oxytocin, prolactin, cortisol, gastrin, cholecystokinin, somatostatin and insulin in dairy cows and their calves. *The Journal of Dairy Research* 68, 175–187.
- MACDONALD, K. & FEIFEL, D. (2012). Oxytocin in schizophrenia: a review of evidence for its therapeutic effects. *Acta Neuropsychiatrica* 24, 130–146.
- MACDONALD, K., FEIFEL, D., BRÜNE, M., LAMB, K., WILSON, M. P., GOLSHAN, S. & MACDONALD, T. (2013a). Not disappointed by anxiety: a reply to Cardoso and Ellenbogen's commentary "Oxytocin and psychotherapy: keeping context and person in mind". *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 3173–3175.
- MACDONALD, K. & MACDONALD, T. M. (2010). The peptide that binds: a systematic review of oxytocin and its prosocial effects in humans. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry* 18, 1–21.
- MACDONALD, K., MACDONALD, T. M., BRÜNE, M., LAMB, K., WILSON, M. P., GOLSHAN, S. & FEIFEL, D. (2013b). Oxytocin and psychotherapy: a pilot study

Biological Reviews (2015) 000-000 © 2015 Cambridge Philosophical Society

of its physiological, behavioral and subjective effects in males with depression. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **38**, 2831–2843.

- MACKINNON, A. L., GOLD, I., FEELEY, N., HAYTON, B., CARTER, C. S. & ZELKOWITZ, P. (2014). The role of oxytocin in mothers' theory of mind and interactive behavior during the perinatal period. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 48C, 52–63.
- MAH, B. L., VAN IJZENDOORN, M. H., SMITH, R. & BAKERMANS-KRANENBURG, M. J. (2013). Oxytocin in postnatally depressed mothers: its influence on mood and expressed emotion. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry* 40, 267–272.
- MARAZZITI, D., DELL'OSSO, B., BARONI, S., MUNGAI, F., CATENA, M., RUCCI, P., ALBANESE, F., GIANNACCINI, G., BETTI, L., FABBRINI, L., ITALIANI, P., DEL DEBBIO, A., LUCACCHINI, A. & DELL'OSSO, L. (2006). A relationship between oxytocin and anxiety of romantic attachment. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology* in Mental Health 2, 28.
- MARKHAM, J. A. (2012). Sex steroids and schizophrenia. Reviews in Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders 13, 187–207.
- McCALL, C. & SINGER, T. (2012). The animal and human neuroendocrinology of social cognition, motivation and behavior. *Nature Neuroscience* 15, 681–688.
- MEHTA, P. H., WUEHRMANN, E. V. & JOSEPHS, R. A. (2009). When are low testosterone levels advantageous? The moderating role of individual versus intergroup competition. *Hormones and Behavior* 56, 158–162.
- MONTOYA, E. R., TERBURG, D., BOS, P. A. & VAN HONK, J. (2012). Testosterone, cortisol, and serotonin as key regulators of social aggression: a review and theoretical perspective. *Motivation and Emotion* 36, 65–73.
- NESSE, R. M. (1999). Proximate and evolutionary studies of anxiety, stress and depression: synergy at the interface. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 23, 895–903.
- NESSE, R. M. (2004). Natural selection and the elusiveness of happiness. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences* 359, 1333–1347.
- NEUMANN, I. D. & LANDGRAF, R. (2012). Balance of brain oxytocin and vasopressin: implications for anxiety, depression, and social behaviors. *Trends* in *Neurosciences* 35, 649–659.
- NEWMAN, M. L., SELLERS, J. G. & JOSEPHS, R. A. (2005). Testosterone, cognition, and social status. *Hormones and Behavior* 47, 205–211.
- OLFF, M., FRIJLING, J. L., KUBZANSKY, L. D., BRADLEY, B., ELLENBOGEN, M. A., CARDOSO, C., BARTZ, J. A., YEF, J. R. & VAN ZUIDEN, M. (2013). The role of oxytocin in social bonding, stress regulation and mental health: an update on the moderating effects of context and interindividual differences. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 1883–1894.
- OPHIR, A. G., GESSEL, A., ZHENG, D. J. & PHELPS, S. M. (2012). Oxytocin receptor density is associated with male mating tactics and social monogamy. *Hormones* and Behavior 61, 445–453.
- OTT, V., FINLAYSON, G., LEHNERT, H., HEITMANN, B., HEINRICHS, M., BORN, J. & HALLSCHMID, M. (2013). Oxytocin reduces reward-driven food intake in humans. *Diabetes* 62, 3418–3425.
- OULIS, P., MASDRAKIS, V. G. & MARKIANOS, M. (2014). Testosterone and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate in female anxious and non-anxious major depression. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice* 18, 21–24.
- OZSOY, S., ESEL, E. & KULA, M. (2009). Serum oxytocin levels in patients with depression and the effects of gender and antidepressant treatment. *Psychiatry Research* 169, 249–252.
- PALGI, S., KLEIN, E. & SHAMAY-TSOORY, S. G. (2014). Intranasal administration of oxytocin increases compassion toward women. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* (Epub ahead of print).
- PARKER, K. J., KENNA, H. A., ZEITZER, J. M., KELLER, J., BLASEY, C. M., AMICO, J. A. & SCHATZBERG, A. F. (2010). Preliminary evidence that plasma oxytocin levels are elevated in major depression. *Psychiatry Research* **178**, 359–362.
- PEPPING, G.-J. & TIMMERMANS, E. J. (2012). Oxytocin and the biopsychology of performance in team sports. *Scientific World Journal* Article ID, 2012, 567363.
- PERRY, A., BENTIN, S., SHALEV, I., ISRAEL, S., UZEFOVSKY, F., BAR-ON, D. & EBSTEIN, R. P. (2010). Intranasal oxytocin modulates EEG mu/alpha and beta rhythms during perception of biological motion. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 35, 1446–1453.
- PIERREHUMBERT, B., TORRISI, R., LAUFER, D., HALFON, O., ANSERMET, F. & BECK POPOVIC, M. (2010). Oxytocin response to an experimental psychosocial challenge in adults exposed to traumatic experiences during childhood or adolescence. *Neuroscience* 166, 168–177.
- POWER, R. A., KYAGA, S., UHER, R., MACCABE, J. H., LÅNGSTROM, N., LANDEN, M., MCGUFFIN, P., LEWIS, C. M., LICHTENSTEIN, P. & SVENSSON, A. C. (2013). Fecundity of patients with schizophrenia, autism, bipolar disorder, depression, anorexia nervosa, or substance abuse vs their unaffected siblings. *JAMA Psychiatry* **70**, 22–30.
- PRETI, A., MELIS, M., SIDDI, S., VELLANTE, M., DONEDDU, G. & FADDA, R. (2014). Oxytocin and autism: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology* 24, 54–68.

- PROCOPIO, M., DAVIES, R. J. & MARRIOTT, P. (2006). The hormonal environment in utero as a potential actiological agent for schizophrenia. *European Archives* of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience 256, 77–81.
- PUTNAM, P. & ROELOFS, K. (2011). Effects of single cortisol administrations on human affect reviewed: coping with stress through adaptive regulation of automatic cognitive processing. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **36**, 439–448.
- RADKE, S. & DE BRUIJN, E. R. (2012). The other side of the coin: oxytocin decreases the adherence to fairness norms. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* 6, 193.
- RAMSEY, J. M., SCHWARZ, E., GUEST, P. C., VAN BEVEREN, N. J., LEWEKE, F. M., ROTHERMUNDT, M., BOGERTS, B., STEINER, J. & BAHN, S. (2013). Distinct molecular phenotypes in male and female schizophrenia patients. *PLoS One* 8, e78729.
- RIEM, M. M., VAN IJZENDOORN, M. H., TOPS, M., BOKSEM, M. A., ROMBOUTS, S. A. & BAKERMANS-KRANENBURG, M. J. (2012). No laughing matter: intranasal oxytocin administration changes functional brain connectivity during exposure to infant laughter. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 37, 1257–1266.
- VAN RIJN, S., ALEMAN, A., DE SONNEVILLE, L., SPRONG, M., ZIERMANS, T., SCHOTHORST, P., VAN ENGELAND, H. & SWAAB, H. (2011). Neuroendocrine markers of high risk for psychosis: salivary testosterone in adolescent boys with prodromal symptoms. *Psychological Medicine* 41, 1815–1822.
- RILLING, J. K. (2013). The neural and hormonal bases of human parental care. *Neuropsychologia* 51, 731–747.
- RILLING, J. K., DEMARCO, A. C., HACKETT, P. D., CHEN, X., GAUTAM, P., STAIR, S., HAROON, E., THOMPSON, R., DITZEN, B., PATEL, R. & PAGNONI, G. (2014). Sex differences in the neural and behavioral response to intranasal oxytocin and vasopressin during human social interaction. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 39, 237–248.
- RIMMELE, U., HEDIGER, K., HEINRICHS, M. & KLAVER, P. (2009). Oxytocin makes a face in memory familiar. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 29, 38–42.
- ROCCHETTI, M., RADUA, J., PALOYELIS, Y., XENAKI, L. A., FRASCARELLI, M., CAVERZASI, E., POLITI, P. & FUSAR-POLI, P. (2014). Neurofunctional maps of the "maternal brain" and the effects of oxytocin: a multimodal voxel-based meta-analysis. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences* 68, 733-751.
- ROSENFELD, A. J., LIEBERMAN, J. A. & JARSKOG, L. F. (2011). Oxytocin, dopamine, and the amygdala: a neurofunctional model of social cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin* 37, 1077–1087.
- ROWE, T. B., MACRINI, T. E. & LUO, Z. X. (2011). Fossil evidence on origin of the mammalian brain. *Science* 332, 955–957.
- RUBIN, L. H., CARTER, C. S., BISHOP, J. R., POURNAJAFI-NAZARLOO, H., DROGOS, L. L., HILL, S. K., RUOCCO, A. C., KEEDY, S. K., REILLY, J. L., KESHAVAN, M. S., PEARLSON, G. D., TAMMINGA, C. A., GERSHON, E. S. & SWEENEY, J. A. (2014). Reduced levels of vasopressin and reduced behavioral modulation of oxytocin in psychotic disorders. *Schizophrenia Bulletin* 40, 1374–1384.
- RUBIN, L. H., CARTER, C. S., DROGOS, L., POURNAJAFI-NAZARLOO, H., SWEENEY, J. A. & MAKI, P. M. (2010). Peripheral oxytocin is associated with reduced symptom severity in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research* 124, 13–21.
- RUPP, H. A., JAMES, T. W., KETTERSON, E. D., SENGELAUB, D. R., DITZEN, B. & HEIMAN, J. R. (2014). Amygdala response to negative images in postpartum vs nulliparous women and intranasal oxytocin. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* 9, 48–54.
- SABATIER, N., LENG, G. & MENZIES, J. (2013). Oxytocin, feeding, and satiety. Frontiers in Endocrinology (Lausanne) 4, 35.
- SASS, L. A. & PARNAS, J. (2003). Schizophrenia, consciousness, and the self. Schizophrenia Bulletin 29, 427–444.
- SAVASKAN, E., EHRHARDT, R., SCHULZ, A., WALTER, M. & SCHÄCHINGER, H. (2008). Post-learning intranasal oxytocin modulates human memory for facial identity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 33, 368–374.
- SCANTAMBURLO, G., HANSENNE, M., FUCHS, S., PITCHOT, W., MARÉCHAL, P., PEQUEUX, C., ANSSEAU, M. & LEGROS, J. J. (2007). Plasma oxytocin levels and anxiety in patients with major depression. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 32, 407-410.
- SCHREITER, S., PIJNENBORG, G. H. & AAN HET ROT, M. (2013). Empathy in adults with clinical or subclinical depressive symptoms. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 150, 1–16.
- SEIDMAN, S. N. & WEISER, M. (2013). Testosterone and mood in aging men. The Psychiatric Clinics of North America 36, 177–182.
- SELTZER, L. J., ZIEGLER, T., CONNOLLY, M. J., PROSOSKI, A. R. & POLLAK, S. D. (2014). Stress-induced elevation of oxytocin in maltreated children: evolution, neurodevelopment, and social behavior. *Child Development* 85, 501–512.
- SHALVI, S. & DE DREU, C. K. (2014). Oxytocin promotes group-serving dishonesty. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111, 5503–5507.
- SHARP, C., HA, C., CARBONE, C., KIM, S., PERRY, K., WILLIAMS, L. & FONAGY, P. (2013). Hypermentalizing in adolescent inpatients: treatment effects and association with borderline traits. *Journal of Personality Disorders* 27, 3–18.

- SHARP, C., PANE, H., HA, C., VENTA, A., PATEL, A. B., STUREK, J. & FONAGY, P. (2011). Theory of mind and emotion regulation difficulties in adolescents with borderline traits. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 50, 563–573.
- SHENG, F., LIU, Y., ZHOU, B., ZHOU, W. & HAN, S. (2013). Oxytocin modulates the racial bias in neural responses to others' suffering. *Biological Psychology* 92, 380–386.
- SILK, J. B., BEEHNER, J. C., BERGMAN, T. J., CROCKFORD, C., ENGH, A. L., MOSCOVICE, L. R., WITTIG, R. M., SEYFARTH, R. M. & CHENEY, D. L. (2010). Strong and consistent social bonds enhance the longevity of female baboons. *Current Biology* **20**, 1359–1361.
- SKUSE, D. H., LORI, A., CUBELLS, J. F., LEE, I., CONNEELY, K. N., PUURA, K., LEHTIMÄKI, T., BINDER, E. B. & YOUNG, L. J. (2014). Common polymorphism in the oxytocin receptor gene (OXTR) is associated with human social recognition skills. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111, 1987–1992.
- SPIELBERG, J. M., FORBES, E. E., LADOUCEUR, C. D., WORTHMAN, C. M., OLINO, T. M., RYAN, N. D. & DAHL, R. E. (2014). Pubertal testosterone influences threat-related amygdala-orbitofrontal coupling. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* (Epub ahead of print).
- SRIPADA, C. S., PHAN, K. L., LABUSCHAGNE, I., WELSH, R., NATHAN, P. J. & WOOD, A. G. (2013). Oxytocin enhances resting-state connectivity between amygdala and medial frontal cortex. *The International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 16, 255–260.
- STALLEN, M., DE DREU, C. K., SHALVI, S., SMIDTS, A. & SANFEY, A. G. (2012). The herding hormone: oxytocin stimulates in-group conformity. *Psychological Science* 23, 1288–1292.
- STANGL, B., HIRSHMAN, E. & VERBALIS, J. (2011). Administration of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) enhances visual-spatial performance in postmenopausal women. *Behavioral Neuroscience* **125**, 742–752.
- STANTON, S. J., WIRTH, M. M., WAUGH, C. E. & SCHULTHEISS, O. C. (2009). Endogenous testosterone levels are associated with amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex responses to anger faces in men but not women. *Biological Psychology* 81, 118–122.
- STRIEPENS, N., SCHEELE, D., KENDRICK, K. M., BECKER, B., SCHÄFER, L., SCHWALBA, K., REUL, J., MAIER, W. & HURLEMANN, R. (2012). Oxytocin facilitates protective responses to aversive social stimuli in males. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 18144–18149.
- TABAK, B. A., MCCULLOUGH, M. E., SZETO, A., MENDEZ, A. J. & MCCABE, P. M. (2011). Oxytocin indexes relational distress following interpersonal harms in women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 36, 115–122.
- TAYLOR, S. E., GONZAGA, G. C., KLEIN, L. C., HU, P., GREENDALE, G. A. & SEE-MAN, T. E. (2006). Relation of oxytocin to psychological stress responses and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis activity in older women. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 68, 238–245.
- TAYLOR, S. E., KLEIN, L. C., LEWIS, B. P., GRUENEWALD, T. L., GURUNG, R. A. R. & UPDEGRAFF, J. A. (2000). Biobehavioral responses to stress in females: tend-and-befriend, not fight-or-flight. *Psychological Review* 107, 411–429.
- TAVLOR, S. E., SAPHIRE-BERNSTEIN, S. & SEEMAN, T. E. (2010). Are plasma oxytocin in women and plasma vasopressin in men biomarkers of distressed pair-bond relationships? *Psychological Science* 21, 3–7.
- TEATERO, M. L. & NETLEY, C. (2013). A critical review of the research on the extreme male brain theory and digit ratio (2D:4D). *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders* 43, 2664–2676.
- TEN VELDEN, F. S., BAAS, M., SHALVI, S., KRET, M. E. & DE DREU, C. K. (2014). Oxytocin differentially modulates compromise and competitive approach but not withdrawal to antagonists from own vs. rivaling other groups. *Brain Research* 1580, 172–179.
- THEODORIDOU, A., ROWE, A. C. & MOHR, C. (2013). Men perform comparably to women in a perspective taking task after administration of intranasal oxytocin but not after placebo. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* **7**, 197.
- THOMPSON, G. J., HURD, P. L. & CRESPI, B. J. (2013). Genes underlying altruism. Biology Letters 9, 20130395.
- TOPS, M. & CARTER, C. S. (2013). Envy. The biochemical substrates. *The Biochemist* 35, 26–32.
- TOPS, M., HUFFMEIJER, R., LINTING, M., GREWEN, K. M., LIGHT, K. C., KOOLE, S. L., BAKERMANS-KRANENBURG, M. J. & VAN IJZENDOORN, M. H. (2013). The role of oxytocin in familiarization-habituation responses to social novelty. *Frontiers* in Psychology 4, 761.
- TROTMAN, H. D., HOLTZMAN, C. W., RYAN, A. T., SHAPIRO, D. I., MACDONALD, A. N., GOULDING, S. M., BRASFIELD, J. L. & WALKER, E. F. (2013). The development of psychotic disorders in adolescence: a potential role for hormones. *Hormones and Behavior* 64, 411–419.
- TRULL, T. J. (2012). The Five-Factor Model of personality disorder and DSM-5. Journal of Personality 80, 1697–1720.
- TSENG, H. C., CHI, M. H., LEE, L. T., TSAI, H. C., LEE, I. H., CHEN, K. C., YANG, Y. K. & CHEN, P. S. (2014). Sex-specific associations between plasma oxytocin

Biological Reviews (2015) 000-000 © 2015 Cambridge Philosophical Society

levels and schizotypal personality features in healthy individuals. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* **51**, 37–41.

- TURAN, T., UYSAL, C., ASDEMIR, A. & KILIC, E. (2013). May oxytocin be a trait marker for bipolar disorder? *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 2890–2896.
- TURNER, R. A., ALTEMUS, M., ENOS, T., COOPER, B. & MCGUINNESS, T. (1999). Preliminary research on plasma oxytocin in normal cycling women: investigating emotion and interpersonal distress. *Psychiatry* 62, 97–113.
- VAN IJZENDOORN, M. H. & BAKERMANS-KRANENBURG, M. J. (2012). A sniff of trust: meta-analysis of the effects of intranasal oxytocin administration on face recognition, trust to in-group, and trust to out-group. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 37, 438–443.
- VITZTHUM, V. J. (2009). The ecology and evolutionary endocrinology of reproduction in the human female. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 140, 95–136.
- VOLMAN, I., TONI, I., VERHAGEN, L. & ROELOFS, K. (2011). Endogenous testosterone modulates prefrontal-amygdala connectivity during social emotional behavior. *Cerebral Cortex* 21, 2282–2290.
- VOORTHUIS, A., RIEM, M. M., VAN IJZENDOORN, M. H. & BAKERMANS-KRANENBURG, M. J. (2014). Reading the mind in the infant eyes: paradoxical effects of oxytocin on neural activity and emotion recognition in watching pictures of infant faces. *Brain Research* **1580**, 151–159.
- VORACEK, M. (2009). Who wants to believe? Associations between digit ratio (2D:4D) and paranormal and superstitious beliefs. *Personality and Individual Differences* 47, 105–109.
- WALDER, D. J., ANDERSSON, T. L., MCMILLAN, A. L., BREEDLOVE, S. M. & WALKER, E. F. (2006). Sex differences in digit ratio (2D:4D) are disrupted in adolescents with schizotypal personality disorder: altered prenatal gonadal hormone levels as a risk factor. *Schizophrenia Research* 86, 118–122.
- WALSS-BASS, C., FERNANDES, J. M., ROBERTS, D. L., SERVICE, H. & VELLIGAN, D. (2013). Differential correlations between plasma oxytocin and social cognitive capacity and bias in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research* 147, 387–392.
- WALTER, N. T., MONTAG, C., MARKETT, S., FELTEN, A., VOIGT, G. & REUTER, M. (2012). Ignorance is no excuse: moral judgments are influenced by a genetic variation on the oxytocin receptor gene. *Brain and Cognition* 78, 268–273.
- WALUM, H., WESTBERG, L., HENNINGSSON, S., NEIDERHISER, J. M., REISS, D., IGL, W., ZANIBAN, J. M., SPOTTS, E. L., PEDERSEN, N. L., ERIKSSON, E. & LICHT-ENSTEIN, P. (2008). Genetic variation in the vasopressin receptor 1a gene (AVPR1A) associates with pair-bonding behavior in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 14153–14156.
- WATANABE, T., ABE, O., KUWABARA, H., YAHATA, N., TAKANO, Y., IWASHIRO, N., NATSUBORI, T., AOKI, Y., TAKAO, H., KAWAKUBO, Y., KAMIO, Y., KATO, N., MIYASHITA, Y., KASAI, K. & YAMASUE, H. (2014). Mitigation of sociocommunicational deficits of autism through oxytocin-induced recovery of medial prefrontal activity: a randomized trial. *IAMA Psychiatry* **71**, 166–175.

- WEISMAN, O., ZAGOORY-SHARON, O. & FELDMAN, R. (2012). Oxytocin administration to parent enhances infant physiological and behavioral readiness for social engagement. *Biological Psychiatry* 72, 982–989.
- WEISMAN, O., ZAGOORY-SHARON, O. & FELDMAN, R. (2014). Oxytocin administration, salivary testosterone, and father-infant social behavior. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry* 49, 47–52.
- WEISMAN, O., ZAGOORY-SHARON, O., SCHNEIDERMAN, I., GORDON, I. & FELDMAN, R. (2013). Plasma oxytocin distributions in a large cohort of women and men and their gender-specific associations with anxiety. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 694–701.
- VAN WINGEN, G., MATTERN, C., VERKES, R. J., BUITELAAR, J. & FERNÁNDEZ, G. (2010). Testosterone reduces amygdala-orbitofrontal cortex coupling. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 35, 105–113.
- WITTFOTH-SCHARDT, D., GRÜNDING, J., WITTFOTH, M., LANFERMANN, H., HEIN-RICHS, M., DOMES, G., BUCHHEIM, A., GÜNDEL, H. & WALLER, C. (2012). Oxytocin modulates neural reactivity to children's faces as a function of social salience. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **37**, 1799–1807.
- WITTIG, R. M., CROCKFORD, C., DESCHNER, T., LANGERGRABER, K. E., ZIEGLER, T. E. & ZUBERBÜHLER, K. (2014). Food sharing is linked to urinary oxytocin levels and bonding in related and unrelated wild chimpanzees. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences* 281, 20133096.
- WRIGHT, N. D., BAHRAMI, B., JOHNSON, E., DI MALTA, G., REES, G., FRITH, C. D. & DOLAN, R. J. (2012). Testosterone disrupts human collaboration by increasing egocentric choices. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences* 279, 2275–2280.
- XU, X. J., SHOU, X. J., LI, J., JIA, M.-X., ZHANG, J.-S., GUO, Y., WEI, Q.-Y., ZHANG, X.-T., HAN, S.-P., ZHANG, R. & HAN, J.-S. (2013). Mothers of autistic children: lower plasma levels of oxytocin and Arg-vasopressin and a higher level of testosterone. *PLoS One* 8, e74849.
- YUEN, K. W., GARNER, J. P., CARSON, D. S., KELLER, J., LEMBKE, A., HYDE, S. A., KENNA, H. A., TENNAKOON, L., SCHATZBERG, A. F. & PARKER, K. J. (2014). Plasma oxytocin concentrations are lower in depressed vs. healthy control women and are independent of cortisol. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 51, 30–36.
- ZAK, P. J. & BARRAZA, J. A. (2013). The neurobiology of collective action. Frontiers in Neuroscience 7, 211.
- ZAK, P. J., KURZBAN, R., AHMADI, S., SWERDLOFF, R. S., PARK, J., EFREMIDZE, L., REDWINE, K., MORGAN, K. & MATZNER, W. (2009). Testosterone administration decreases generosity in the ultimatum game. *PLoS One* 4, e8330.
- ZARROUF, F. A., ARTZ, S., GRIFFITH, J., SIRBU, C. & KOMMOR, M. (2009). Testosterone and depression: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice* 15, 289–305.

(Received 31 July 2014; revised 15 December 2014; accepted 19 December 2014)